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Tuesday, November 15, 2005


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.


MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Chair, Union Gas has two filings, both of which have been provided to the Board and left at the back for parties.  The first is a package of curricula vitae, one for each of the Union witnesses who will be appearing later this week, and I would ask that that be given the next exhibit number, please.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  We have the curriculum or curricula vitae, however you pluralize that, for the Union witnesses.  That will be X2.1.


EXHIBIT NO. X2.1:  CURRICULA VITAE FOR UNION GAS WITNESSES

MS. LEA:  The second item, Mr. Cameron?


MR. CAMERON:  The second item is a set of three schematic drawings that were prepared by Union's first panel, facilities, design and economics, and they will be spoken to by that panel very briefly in their direct evidence.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  The package of schematics is X2.2.


EXHIBIT NO. X2.2:  PACKAGE OF SCHEMATIC DRAWINGS

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Cameron.  That's it?  No other matters?


MR. MANNING:  Mr. Chairman, the Society of Energy Professionals has lodged the CV of Mr. Kellway for distribution, and I would ask that that be admitted for distribution, as well.


MS. LEA:  X2.3, please.


EXHIBIT NO. X2.3:  CURRICULUM VITAE OF MR. KELLWAY

MS. LAND:  Mr. Chairman, we circulated a CV, as well, for the witnesses for Walpole Island First Nation.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, Ms. Land.  The CV of Dean Martin Jacobs then, first, X2.4.


EXHIBIT NO. X2.4:  CURRICULUM VITAE OF DEAN MARTIN JACOBS

MS. LEA:  The second one, the CV of David W. White, X2.5.


EXHIBIT NO. X2.5:  CURRICULUM VITAE OF DAVID W. WHITE

MS. LEA:  One moment, please.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Any other matters?  There being no response, Mr. Moran.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  We have panel 3 before you, Mr. Wendelgass, who is already sworn, and Mr. Rosenkranz, R-O-S-E-N-K-R-A-N-Z.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, sir.  Your new witness has to come forward.


GREENFIELD ENERGY CENTRE PANEL 3:

John Rosenkranz; Sworn


Paul Wendelgass; Previously Affirmed

EXAMINATION IN-CHIEF BY MR. MORAN:

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Rosenkranz, looking at your CV, I see that you have a bachelor's degree in economics?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I do.


MR. MORAN:  And you have carried out graduate studies in economics, as well?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I have.


MR. MORAN:  And you have carried out ‑‑ you've held positions as an economist?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I have.


MR. MORAN:  And then you have been involved in a number of jobs that involve gas supply.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I've had a number of jobs that involve gas supply planning.


MR. MORAN:  And your current position is with Calpine Corporation, and you are the director of the gas marketing?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, that's true.


MR. MORAN:  You were involved in the preparation of sections of the pre-filed evidence and a number of interrogatories dealing with the gas supply issues?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I was.


MR. MORAN:  And do you adopt that as your evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I do.


MR. MORAN:  Are there any changes or corrections that you wish to make at this time?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  There is one correction that I would like to bring to people's attention, and that would show up in Greenfield Energy Centre's pre-filed evidence.  It is actually not something that we produced, but in Exhibit B3, we inserted the Canadian tariff of Vector Pipeline Limited Partnership.  At the very end of that ‑- and it's not paginated, as I recall.  It's actually the next to the last page of a fairly voluminous insertion.  It lists the various rates for service.  So at the very end, there is page 1 and page 2.  Actually, it would be the last page.


MR. MORAN:  I'm going to stop you.  Mr. Chair, do you have the reference?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, I do.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Okay.  So it would be actually the last page.  It refers to the actual rates on file for the title transfer service and the management of balancing agreement service.


In preparing for this appearance and reviewing the various things that have been filed, we noticed that there was an error, actually, in the Vector tariff.  The maximum call for the management of balancing agreement service or MBA service is listed as 29 cents per gJ.


We contacted Vector and they confirmed that the correct rate is point ‑‑ excuse me, 2.9 cents or 0.029 dollars per gJ.  That is something that will be ‑‑ they will correct in their tariff, but we wanted to bring that to people's attention.


That number was not used in our evidence, but it was used by Union Gas in its intervenor evidence.  On paragraph 148 they make reference to the erroneous rate, and in paragraph 155(h) they perform a calculation using that rate.  So we just wanted to bring that to people's attention, that that rate that was -‑ we had gotten from Vector was just an error in their tariff.


MR. MORAN:  Now, Mr. Wendelgass, if could you please indicate to the Board why GEC needs the pipeline.

MR. WENDELGASS:  GEC needs the pipeline to deliver natural gas to the power plant it is committed to build to serve under its contract to the Ontario Power Authority.


MR. MORAN:  What are the implications for the project if GEC doesn't get the pipeline approval?


MR. WENDELGASS:  If GEC doesn't get the pipeline approval and is required to take service under the firm T1 tariff with Union, it will have substantial financial implications, negative financial implications, for the project.  I think it would require the partners to step back and take a careful look at the project economics.  It will also require the project's lenders to take a very careful look at the lending, because the cash flow implications are pretty serious for the project, and I think overall the impact of lack of the pipeline is substantial.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Wendelgass, I continue to have difficulty hearing you.
     MR. WENDELGASS:  I apologize.
     MR. VLAHOS:  I would ask you, perhaps, maybe you could just change chairs, just one over for both of you gentlemen, see how that works out.  It may be just the mike that you're using.
     MR. WENDELGASS:  Okay.
     MR. VLAHOS:  See if that works.
     MR. MORAN:  Now, Mr. Wendelgass, they’re supposed to be directional mikes too, so make sure it is pointed right at you.
     MR. WENDELGASS:  I'm staring straight at it.  Unfortunately, I don't have much more voice than this.
     MR. MORAN:  Now, you made a reference to lenders.  What kind of financing is anticipated for this project?
     MR. WENDELGASS:  This was anticipated to be a project financing.  Greenfield, as I indicated in discussions yesterday, is a stand-alone entity.  It is a limited partnership between subsidiaries of Calpine and subsidiaries of Mitsui & Co. Limited.
     The project itself will undertake a financing with lenders, and it will do that on the basis of the strength of the project's own financials, not on the strength of its parents.
     MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Wendelgass.  

Mr. Rosenkranz, from your perspective, on the gas supply side, why does Greenfield need this pipeline?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  My responsibility extends to the long-term gas supply arrangements for power plants such as Greenfield.  So from my perspective, we're looking at the various alternatives that we have for delivering gas to that plant and coming up with a plan that gives us the best possible outcome.
     Our evaluation is that the building, this piece of pipe to the interconnection with the Vector pipeline, gives us a number of advantages that are important to the project.
     First of all, it gives us control over the cost of the interconnection.  It gives us control over the design of that interconnection, and very importantly the timing of that interconnection.  We can build that under the control of our own personnel to make sure that that is coordinated with the time frame for the much larger power plant project.
     Also, it gives us access, we believe, to a number of competitive sources of both natural gas and the various ancillary services we're going to need in the gas market from time to time to manage imbalances, to allow the plant to operate as it needs to, and the flexibility to make those changes over time.
     So, overall, we see this as an important step to the development of this project.  Fuel supply is obviously very important to the gas-fired power plant, and this is the option that we've identified as being the best option for supplying this plant.
     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Wendelgass, when did you start looking for sites for the purposes of the RFP process?
     MR. WENDELGASS:  I first began looking for sites shortly after the government announced its gas-fired power plant initiative in early 2004.  I believe my first trip to Ontario was in February of 2004.
     MR. MORAN:  And when did you identify the Greenfield site?
     MR. WENDELGASS:  I believe we identified that in late September, early October of 2004.
     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Rosenkranz, when did you start work on the transportation options for Greenfield?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That would have been early fall of 2004, when we identified this as one of our primary sites.
     MR. MORAN:  When did you first talk to Union Gas about the possibility of service from them?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We had been in discussions earlier in 2004 with Union Gas concerning their services for actually other sites before we settled on the Greenfield site.  So it would have been earlier in 2004.  In September of 2004, we were more focussed in our approach, had better ideas in terms of which specific sites we were looking at, and at that time we executed a confidentiality agreement with Union Gas so we could continue those discussions.
     MR. MORAN:  When you were looking at your own pipeline compared to service from Union, what ultimately drove the decision that led to building the pipeline into your proposal with the RFP process?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  There were a number of different factors that we looked at.  I think the biggest stumbling block or biggest concern at that point in time, with respect to the Union service, is that we did not see that as being -- the service that was being offered by Union as being an appropriate service for the power plant.  We saw it as being a more comprehensive, bundled and expensive service than we thought was appropriate for this type of project.  The way we have approached this in many other instances is that we are looking at the cost of the basic interconnection services and the basic gas-delivery services that we're going to need for this project, and we feel that because we have the ability to construct our own gas interconnections and have the fuel management ability to act in pretty much the wholesale marketplace for natural gas, that we have a good idea, in terms of what the underlying costs should be.
     At the time that we made the bid, we used those underlying economics and our understanding of the marketplace.  It was not based on -- at that point in time, a hard decision that we were going to pursue one particular option or another.  At that time, we were still considering a connection with TransCanada, and we were still considering the possibility of working out some other type of arrangement with Union Gas.  But we were -- the foundation for our bid strategy was that any of those alternatives should be competitive with the underlying economics of building our own pipeline.
     MR. MORAN:  Now, you made reference to the contracting flexibility, if I could call it that.  How important is that contracting flexibility, in relation to how you would expect the Greenfield plant to run over the next 20 years?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It's extremely important, and the reason it's important is that we don't know how the plant will run.  I mean, we are building a resource, a generating resource in this marketplace.  We will be bidding this plant into the marketplace, and the actual operation of the plant will be dependant on the interplay between fuel prices and power prices in that marketplace.  So we need to be prepared to operate that plant under a wide range of operating conditions and to be able to change those arrangements over time -- over the 20 year life of this plant.  That's one aspect of having a gas supply arrangement that gives us access to a large number of alternatives that can be changed over time.  That's important for this project.
     MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rosenkranz.  

Mr. Chair, those are my questions in direct.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  

Ms. Lea.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:  
     MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.  

Mr. Rosenkranz, one question about the adjustment that you gave us for the Vector management of balancing agreement service maximum toll.
     Did this error, in an order of magnitude, what did you consider when you were costing this option for yourself?
     Did you use the .29 dollars or the .029 dollars?  Or was it a factor at all for you?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  In our evaluation and our discussions -- were based on our discussions with Vector pipeline and our review of both their US tariff and their Canadian tariff, but primarily based on the discussion we've had.
     So we had and understanding it was more like two cents.
     It's also -- Vector Pipeline is a little bit of an ‑‑ little bit unusual, in that, to my understanding, most of their services they end up negotiating.  So the filed rates are something of a guideline.


So that was something that we really didn't -- that particular number wasn't something that we didn't really reference or take notice of in our evaluation.


MS. LEA:  So when you prepared your bid, then, for the RFP, this figure or the error with respect to this figure was not material to that bid?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It didn't enter into our ‑‑ we weren't aware of that error because we were not making use of that particular page.  We were making use of other information that had been provided by Vector Pipeline.  Also, we have not made a commitment that Vector MBA service is something that is necessary.  It's one of the options we're considering.  It's something that is available to us.  It's something that's been factored into our economics as one of the potential alternatives which kind of weighted with a number of different things that we were potentially considering.


MS. LEA:  All right, thank you.  I wonder if I could ask you to turn to Exhibit B, page 6.  That is your pre-filed evidence, page 6, please.


At Exhibit B, page 6, you will see a diagram there that you have provided to us of the structure of the limited partnership, and I wonder if someone could assist me with understanding the various relationships between these partners and their relationship to Calpine and Mitsui, please.


MR. WENDELGASS:  I believe that's going to fall to me.  Greenfield Energy Centre is a limited partnership.  That means it has a general partner and a limited partner.  The general partner's share has been changed, actually, since this diagram was created.  C.M. Greenfield Power Corp., the general partner, holds 0.01 percent of the partnership.


MS. LEA:  These orders of magnitude, I don't know, they're getting us today.  Yes, okay.


MR. WENDELGASS:  That was a decision made in the course of the negotiations of the governance agreement between Calpine and Mitsui.  The investors in the general partner are MIT Power Canada Investments Inc., a subsidiary of Mitsui & Co., Ltd. of Japan.  I believe that is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Mitsui & Company.


MS. LEA:  That is, wholly owned by Mitsui?


MR. WENDELGASS:  It is wholly owned by Mitsui, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. WENDELGASS:  Calpine Energy Services Canada Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Calpine Corporation of the US.


MS. LEA:  Was that wholly-owned subsidiary created for the purpose of this project, or does it have other projects or investments in Canada?


MR. WENDELGASS:  CES Canada Limited has other investments in Canada.


MS. LEA:  Can you give me an example?


MR. WENDELGASS:  Off the top of my head, I cannot.  I am not really familiar with CES Canada's scope, but I do know that it was created initially when Calpine held a substantial interest in natural gas production in Canada, and its purpose was to provide natural gas marketing services, as well as to hold some of those gas interests.


Calpine has since sold its natural gas interests in Alberta and B.C., and so most of the interests ‑‑ most of the active interests that CES Canada Limited have been transferred out.


MS. LEA:  And the limited partners?


MR. WENDELGASS:  The limited partner, MIT Power Canada LP Inc. is, again, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mitsui & Co. 


MS. LEA:  But is it a subsidiary of MIT Power Canada Investment Inc., or is it directly a subsidiary of Mitsui?


MR. WENDELGASS:  I would have to ask my colleagues from Mitsui that question, because I ‑‑


MS. LEA:  It's not particularly relevant, sir.  We can ‑‑ in any event, it is wholly owned by Mitsui and Calpine Energy Services Canada Partnership?


MR. WENDELGASS:  I believe in the course of the negotiations of the governance agreement the parties agreed to change that entity.  I do not have the name of the new entity, but I will provide it to you later today.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. WENDELGASS:  That is -- again, the new entity which has been formed, actually, is a partnership formed between, I believe, Calpine Energy Services Canada Limited and another Calpine entity, to create the new partnership that holds the LP interest in Greenfield Energy Centre, and the two partners have equal interests.  The two limited partners, being Mitsui limited partner and the Calpine limited partner, hold equal interests in the partnership.


MS. LEA:  And, pardon me, sir, for the Calpine limited partner, that is made up of two entities?


MR. WENDELGASS:  It is a partnership.


MS. LEA:  Uh‑huh.


MR. WENDELGASS:  Therefore, it has two partners in it.  One of them is CES Canada Limited, I believe, and the other one I would need to check.


MS. LEA:  All right.  And was that partnership formed for the purpose of undertaking the Greenfield Energy Centre project?


MR. WENDELGASS:  It was formed for the purpose of investing in the Greenfield Energy Centre project, yes.


MS. LEA:  I see.  Does it have any other interests in Canada that you are aware of?


MR. WENDELGASS:  I do not believe it does.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  When we look at the top right-hand corner of this diagram, we see, again, Calpine Energy Services Canada Limited and a two-way arrow and the letters EPC.  Can you explain what that is about, please?


MR. WENDELGASS:  Initially, when this was provided, we intended to use the CES Canada Limited entity as the EPC, the engineering, procurement, construction contractor, the turnkey contractor, in effect, for the project.


During the course of the negotiations of the EPC contract, we determined jointly with Mitsui that it made more sense to have a new stand‑alone entity, and I believe that that is Calpine Greenfield Partnership Limited, but I will check that.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. WENDELGASS:  These creatures have occurred within the last couple of weeks.


MS. LEA:  I understand.  And was that creature particularly formed to ‑‑


MR. WENDELGASS:  To be the EPC contractor, yes.


MS. LEA:  Uh‑huh.  The Calpine Corporation O&M affiliate?


MR. WENDELGASS:  Excuse me.  The ‑‑ as I indicated yesterday when we provided our testimony, it was our intent that the Calpine subsidiary would operate the power.  In the negotiations of the governance agreement we made the decision, jointly with Mitsui, to have Greenfield Energy Centre LP be the employer of the operating staff.


So the operations of the plant will be directly under a general manager employed by Greenfield Energy Centre and a staff also employed by Greenfield Energy Centre.


MS. LEA:  Does that mean that ‑‑


MR. WENDELGASS:  I'm sorry.  Calpine will provide certain administrative services, back office, accounting, environmental support, environmental permitting support, environmental monitoring during the course of operations, as a couple of examples, ongoing operations, engineering support to the project.  And there will be a contract between a Calpine affiliate or subsidiary and the partnership for that, for those services.


MS. LEA:  So does that mean, then, that this box disappears or that the functions described therein are more limited?


MR. WENDELGASS:  The functions described therein are more limited.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And then on the bottom right-hand corner you have lenders.  I want to talk a little bit about that in a moment, but I wonder if I could ask that you undertake to update this diagram for us.  I think that is probably the easiest way, rather than to provide the information piecemeal.  Can we have an updated filing?


MR. MORAN:  We can do that, Ms. Lea.


MR. WENDELGASS:  Absolutely.


MS. LEA:  Undertaking U2.1.  Is that acceptable to the Board?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, it is.


MS. LEA:  U2.1, then, will be an update of figure 1 at Exhibit B, page 6.


UNDERTAKING NO. U2.1:  PROVIDE UPDATE OF FIGURE 1 AT EXHIBIT B, PAGE 6

MS. LEA:  Now, you spoke about getting project financing from certain lenders.  Have you identified these lenders?


MR. WENDELGASS:  We have identified, I believe, the lead lender, but beyond that I don't believe the full team has been put together.


MS. LEA:  Do you have confidence that you will be able to attract the necessary capital?


MR. WENDELGASS:  I believe that ‑‑ I believe that the contract with the OPA and the project's cash flows, as they're currently laid out, are strong enough, certainly strong enough to attract the capital from investors -- from lenders, rather, to allow the project to get constructed, yes.


MS. LEA:  Which of the entities that we have discussed this morning or that appear in this original chart, whose creditworthiness, which will be lent to here?  Who are the lenders we're looking at?
     MR. WENDELGASS:  The lenders we're looking at Greenfield Energy Centre LP as the party which executed the CES contract with the Ontario Power Authority.
     MS. LEA:  Right.
     MR. WENDELGASS:  The lenders will look to GEC, as we abbreviated it, they will look to Greenfield Energy Centre LP to its financials in evaluating their decisions to lend.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  One question about the siting decision that you talked about in your evidence in-chief.  Was the proximity to the Vector or TCPL pipelines a big factor in the decision as to where to set this project?
     MR. WENDELGASS:  It was a factor in the decisions to set this project.
     MS. LEA:  What were the others?
     MR. WENDELGASS:  Siting a power plant, a new 

gas-fired generation facility, you're looking for two or three factors:  proximity to electric transmission system to an interconnect of the scale; the magnitude that you need; and a voltage that is reasonable to bring it -- come in.
     You're looking for proximity, reasonable proximity to natural gas supply, since obviously we don't have - absent intervention by the Board - we don't have the ability to take property.  And you're looking for, if possible, a supply of water for cooling and a means of discharging your waste water from the project.
     MS. LEA:  And of those three factors, are they equally weighted, or are there some that are more important than others?
     MR. WENDELGASS:  I would say that for any given project, the weighting is a fairly subjective decision.
     All three are significant, but as an example, if you look at projects that have been sited in the GTA, none of them have water.  When I started looking in the GTA, I looked for projects with water, but unfortunately there is no way to move the power from the areas of the GTA where you could site a project near water.
     So you give up some things.  Gas and electric transmission are obviously more critical.  Largely you can run gas lines underground.  You don't want to go any substantial distance overhead with transmission lines, it’s just -- so would I say proximity to transmission is your first, and -- followed by gas.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you very much.
     As you are probably are aware, the test that the Board has to consider in determining whether or not to grant the application of GEC is whether the pipeline or the proposed construction is in the public interest.
     And I wonder if you would describe to us what you believe to be the public interest benefits, specifically, of this project.  I don't mind who it is or both of you, whoever.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I will take a shot.  I think certainly it's the Board's decision, in terms of what's in the public interest.  I'm not going to sit here and say that we, as the corporation or developer of power plants, have been -- certainly we're concerned about the public interest and being acting in the public interest, but we're not the arbiter of what is the public interest.
     I think this particular pipeline, although relatively short, is very important to this project and therefore it has public interest implications, both on the electric side and the gas side.
     I think that the public interest on the power side is certainly borne out by our participation in the RFP process and entering into the CES contract, based on a process that encouraged us, very strongly, with very strong economic signals, to do things and utilize best practices in all aspects of this development.  And in my view, what we've done on the gas interconnection side is part of the best practices that we follow in a number of jurisdictions in which we operate in terms of finding the best way to get gas to the plant, as I discussed previously.
     On the gas side, I think the issue is, certainly, directly not what the public interest concern would generally be:  Are we looking for subsidies from others?  And certainly, in this case, we're not looking for subsidies from other gas users.  We're not looking to have an operational impact on existing gas users or existing gas systems in the province.
     We would be -- have our own stand-alone gas connection to the inter-provincial pipeline grid, and would be managing our supplies on that grid, as I said earlier, very much on a -- kind of at the wholesale level.  We would be responsible for our own costs and our own actions.
     I think getting more towards other indirect considerations that the Board may want to consider would be where this particular project fits in with the development of competitive markets for various services within Ontario.  One thing that we have done, we recognize that to some extent we are new to this market, although Calpine is already active in the Canadian gas system and, actually we take a lot of gas from Canada and use transportation -- Canadian transportation to take gas into the north-east US.  So we’re active at that level, but we haven't really been active at the provincial level.  

But when we did make the commitment to get involved in gas-fired power generation in this province, we did endeavour to be an active participant in that market, including at the regulatory level.  And we have been participating, to the extent we can, in things like the Natural Gas Forum, the Natural Gas Electric Interface Process, and are certainly aware that, to some extent, this is a market in transition, in terms of looking at things that need to be done at a very fundamental level to allow large end-users, like gas-fired power plants, to operate efficiently.
     We certainly think that our application is consistent with that, and we think that our participation in this market, particularly at this location in Dawn, can act as something of a catalyst to the development of new services at the Dawn hub.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.
     I wonder if I could approach this a little bit with you in some detail by considering what might happen if the application were denied.
     The first scenario I would like to address with you is, if the application by GEC is denied for the pipeline, but the partners decide to go ahead nevertheless with the project, will higher electricity prices result from that combination of circumstances?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  There are -– to make sure I'm clear with your premise.  Your premise is that we do not have the ability to follow our planned course of action with respect to the gas supply, whether we continue to go on with the project?
     MS. LEA:  Yes.  And you managed to -- you presumably take service from Union, although I'm not asking you to presume any particular cost of that service.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Thank you.  We can discuss this further, and maybe Mr. Wendelgass can get involved if there are additional questions on how the CES contract works.  I know there has been a lot in the record already on what costs can we pass-through and what costs can we not 

pass-through.  But with respect to our operation in the power market, as I said before, the CES contract is -- leaves us as active participants in the competitive market for power.  We will be dispatching a plant based on our actual economics, not necessarily what is in the CES contract.  That's really somewhat behind the scene.
     So anything that happens on the gas-supply side that leaves us with a higher variable cost of delivering gas to the plant will affect our bidding strategy, our bidding behaviour, because we will bid based on our costs.  We will not tend to operate when there is not a positive stock spread or margin there, so that certainly any increase in our gas costs, or particularly gas-delivered costs, will have an impact on the market price for electricity.
     MS. LEA:  Well, it would have an effect on the market price for electricity, sir, when GEC was the marginal generator at that particular time, if I can put it that way.  You were setting the price.


I would imagine that in circumstances where you are not setting the price, where you're not the marginal generator, you will not have any effect on the price of electricity; is that correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I believe that is a fair statement.  


MS. LEA:  It's impossible to tell at this time how often GEC will be the marginal generator in the market?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is certainly true.


MS. LEA:  Of course, it is only your variable costs that will affect your bidding behaviour, as I understand it; is that correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Beginning from your premise that we went ahead and constructed and put the plant into operation, yes, we would have gotten over that fixed-cost threshold.


MS. LEA:  I'm still working on that premise.  We will get to other premises in a moment.  Still working on that premise, then, the fixed costs are sunk, that's correct, and they won't affect your bidding behaviour?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Again, if we have made the decision to go forward and the plant is built?


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  At that point, yes.


MS. LEA:  We'll deal with the other scenario in a moment.  If you decide to go forward and the plant is built, the fixed costs are sunk and they won't affect your bidding behaviour?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's what I said, yes.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  So then the variable costs will, to a certain extent, drive bidding behaviour.


When one considers the amount of variable cost, which is a component of the Union service, even given the calculation you have done which, as I understand, it uses the maximum T1 rate, would you agree with me that that will not be a significant component of your variable cost, because your variable cost level is going to be driven largely by the price of gas and not the variable cost of the use of the Union service?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I can't -‑ no, I can't agree with that.  There are significant variable costs in services that -- even the firm T1 service, particularly with respect to the cost of fuel that we would incur.  Presumably, like, in trying to work within your ‑‑ the ‑‑ your question, which hasn't presumed any particular new service to replace the arrangements that we already have.


MS. LEA:  Let's have a look at an interrogatory, sir.  It's the interrogatory from Aiken & Associates, number 6.  That would be Exhibit C, Interrogatory No. 6.  I think it is actually schedule C1.  Yes, that's the one I wanted, I think.


So if we look at schedule C1, sir, I gather these are annual costs that we see in the right‑hand column; is that correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  If we look at the fixed charges and the variable charges down towards the bottom, the fixed charges are about 6.6 million at a 40 percent annual load factor, and about 1.88 million variable charges at 40 percent load factor?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And a 70 percent load factor, we can see that the fixed costs are the same.  The variable charges rise to $3.27 million?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I see those numbers.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  And these figures, 1.88 and 3.27, what percentage of the total variable costs that you will incur in a year do those represent?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I don't think ‑‑ first of all, I don't have the answer of that number off the top of my head, primarily because it is not a number that really concerns us.  I mean, what concerns us is the -- particularly because we're looking at conditions where ‑‑ well, certainly under the CES contract, the variable costs of gas as measured at the index at the Dawn hub is set aside.


But even if we didn't have the CES contract, I mean, we're looking at markets where our run/no run decision, or our margin on operating is affected by relatively small differences in our variable cost of operating.


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, sir, I didn't understand that answer.  Did you say if we do not have a CES contract?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I'm saying with or without the CES contract we're looking at relative ‑‑ at these types of additional variable costs as being significant to our decision.


So looking at them, in terms of what share is this variable cost of our total variable operating cost, is to me not a way that I ‑‑ I look at things.


MS. LEA:  All right.  So I think what I'm hearing you say is that you're not able to assist me with what percentage of your variable costs these figures would represent, but you are testifying that even these variable costs on an annual basis would affect your bidding behaviour?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I will think about that answer.


I wonder if we could now look to another scenario.  If this application is denied, one of the difficulties is that GEC is not able to recover the additional costs, as I understand it.  The contract you have with the government does not allow you to recover more than the net revenue requirement that you bid in with.

MR. WENDELGASS:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  And were you aware ‑‑ I gather that the way you chose to bid on this contract, you thought about the various business risks of that approach?


MR. WENDELGASS:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  And at that time, you were ‑‑ were you aware that the Board has never yet granted a leave-to-construct application for a pipeline in these circumstances?


MR. WENDELGASS:  We were aware that the Board ‑‑ that there were no existing parties with leave to construct a pipeline.


We were also aware that the Board had, in its earlier decisions, opened the door to applications for such leave, and we had also looked at the precedents on the electric side of the market to give us some comfort that, as market openings had been occurring in Ontario, practices in the markets have been changing and the Board has been leading in many of those areas.


MS. LEA:  Yes, sir, I don't disagree with that assessment.


In your opinion, is there anything fundamentally different about -- almost physically different between gas and electricity that should lead this Board to treat those two commodities differently in its approach to connections, such as what you're proposing?


You've indicated that the Board should consider -- although you haven't said so today, I understand it to be your position that the Board should consider consistency between its approaches between the electricity and gas, construction of transmission facilities such as this.


Is there anything different about those two commodities that you think should drive any difference in the Board's approach?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think with this particular issue there is a lot of commonality in terms of the transmission line, whether it be a power transmission line or a gas transmission line.


MS. LEA:  What is it about this situation that, in your view, creates those commonalities?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think it is the lack of, as you said, impact on other customers.  It's the lack of existing facilities to meet that need, and certainly the fact that by building these facilities and making this connection we're not stranding any existing facilities or in any way shifting costs onto other customers.


I mean, those are the basic considerations that, in my understanding, are looked at on both the gas side and the electric side.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  I would like to ask you a few questions about some of your ‑‑ the cost information that you provided to us, and some of your plans with respect to ensuring security of supply to the plant.


In a Board Staff -- in response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 5 -‑ I don't think you need to turn it up.  I don't think there is much debate about this.  You have indicated that your proposal, as filed now, has no bundled storage component; is that right?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And at pages 20 and 21 of Exhibit B of your application, you discuss the need for GEC to manage and balance between the quantities of gas delivered to the plant and the plant actual consumption.  Yes?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is correct.  


MS. LEA:  You provided some details of Michigan storage capabilities connected with Vector.
     Now, does GEC plan to use storage to manage load balancing and to optimize the pipeline capacity utilization?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's a question -- and there is some -- I want to be clear about what we mean by “storage.”
     So the answer would be, yes, we expect that storage, to some extent, will be utilized directly or indirectly to provide the types of balancing services that we need on a very short-term basis to cycle, and maybe on a somewhat longer-term basis.
     MS. LEA:  You will need to help me understand directly/indirectly.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I will be glad to -- if you will listen, I will be glad to explain it.
     MS. LEA:  Getting me to listen, that's the trick.  Okay, go ahead, sir.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I didn't mean it that way.
     MS. LEA:  I know.  I'm kidding you.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The first thing I want to point out is that the types of -- we're looking at very short-term issues with respect to the types of balancing that we're going to need for this plant.  We're looking at day-to-day, hour-to-hour-type balancing is our primary requirement.
     We expect we will be able to operate -- in the marketplace we're at a very good location with respect to flowing gas supplies, multiple vendors of natural gas.  So we'll be able to do a lot to manage that, but there are certain imbalances that we'll need to factor in.  We won't be able to predict how much gas we're going to use every day, every hour, to the last gJ.
     There are a number of things that we are considering.  As you pointed out, we're looking at Michigan storage as one option.  But in terms of the types of the storage we're looking at, it is not a lot of storage capacity.  What we're looking at is having access to perhaps injection and withdrawal capacity on a very short-term basis, but we're not going to keep the gas in there very long.  We're looking at putting it in there one day, because if we have a little bit of extra gas that day we'll adjust for the next day, so we'll be able to pull that gas out.
     So in terms of -- in my view, our requirement for storage is not the conventional sticking it in in summer and taking it out in the winter type of storage.  It's more what is commonly referred to as operational storage.
     Underground storage, as I said, will be part of that.  A lot of the type of operational storage that we need is not even storage that gets where the gas is injected into the ground and brought out.  It is very much going to be managing line pack on various pipelines for the, particularly, very short-term variations in demand.
     So there is nothing unique here.  This is the way the gas business needs to take care of the fact that gas is bought and sold primarily at this point on a daily basis, and gas consumption, varies on a much shorter-term basis.
     When I was referring to indirect access to storage, I was trying to make the point that we will be working with marketers, primarily marketers of natural gas who themselves control pipeline capacity that has flexibility in it, or control storage at various points, and we will be -- to some extent, the flexibility that we will need can be built into the gas supply arrangements that we make with those types of companies.
     We do not expect that we will be providing all of the gas supply for this plant by going into the spot market on a daily basis.  We will be making month-to-month or even long -- particularly seasonal or even longer-term arrangements with parties.  When we get into those types of arrangements, that's when the negotiations of these types of nomination rights as part of the gas supply comes out.
     So without trying to make it sound more complicated than it is, because it's – again, there are a lot of different approaches out there, and at this point in time we're considering a lot of them - that's my perspective on our need for storage and balancing.
     MS. LEA:  And have you -- I gather from what you said then you haven't yet made those arrangements.  You don't have those contracts in place yet to allow you to do the things you have described in your answer.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is correct.  That is correct.  We have been in discussions with a number of parties, most of those discussions are subject to actual explicit confidentiality agreements.  Others are subject to an understanding of those details being commercially sensitive.  So I don't want to sound evasive, but that is kind of where we are.  I just want to make sure that that was understood.
     MS. LEA:  It was not my intention to ask you about the nature of those sorts of contracts.
     What I am more concerned about is, do you have any idea yet, on a global basis, those activities that you described, what the annual cost would be of making that happen?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  I mean, certainly we have done our own internal evaluation in terms of what we think those costs will be.  But bringing it back to an earlier question, it's not just about the costs at a particular point in time for a particular operating scenario.
     What we value very strongly is the ability to manage all aspects of our gas supply so that we can make those changes over time.
     So we may -- those balancing costs may be very high in some years and relatively low in other years, because we're changing those contracts as we know more about what we expect -- how we expect the plant to operate in the 

shorter-term horizon.
     MS. LEA:  Can I ask you this, sir.  Was any estimate or component of those costs included in the costing that you presented in your evidence?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  When we prepared the evidence for this application to construct this short piece of pipeline, we approached this as a facilities application and focussed on the issues that we felt -- believed were relevant to that type of application.
     Having said that, we felt that we certainly needed to explain how this piece of pipe would be used for the gas supply for the project, and showed a basic cost comparison of this alternative versus other alternatives that had been evaluated.
     In order to provide that -- to make that comparison, we used a particular scenario based on point-to-point transportation from the Dawn point, which is our preferred purchase point, primarily because of our pricing in the CES contract, to the plant, in order to try to get something like an apples-to-apples comparison.
     Finally, to get around to answering what I believe was your question --
     MS. LEA:  I'm listening.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  -- we did not put in explicit -- we did not go into all possible operating conditions.  We tried to make the point that this works; that this is part of a gas supply strategy; that we looked at it versus certain alternatives.  Some alternatives in particular had drawbacks related to the fixed costs, and we wanted to highlight those.  But we didn't put in -- we didn't quantify all of these somewhat less well-known costs.
     I mean, certainly, there are costs that we're aware of.  There are costs that -- managing these costs is part of our job and part of what we believe is something that gives us a competitive advantage over other players who maybe don't have the same resources that we do.  But, again, to try to answer your question, those costs that we know are important and we know are related to this application, but more strongly relate to the operation of the power plant as opposed to the basic function of this piece of pipe, which is to get gas from point A to point B, were not explicitly listed in this application, although they were discussed and not hidden, the fact that there would be such costs.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So as I understand your answer, then, it is that your evidence reveals that such costs may be incurred, but an estimate of those costs has not been provided, for the reasons that you have described?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  You spoke some ‑‑ I wonder, anybody who has turned their microphone up towards the ceiling, could you tilt it down, please?  This creates, in some cases, feedback.  I think that gentleman over there also has his microphone pointed upwards.  Thanks.  Those of us with loud voices have to temper our wind somewhat, myself included, to help the system.


You mentioned, sir, the management of balancing agreement services, and we discussed the Vector toll for that or maximum toll for that.


This is in the same category, I gather, as the balancing costs that we just discussed.  You do not yet know if you're going to use this service or how you will use it, so the costs of using that service are not in this application, estimated costs?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The costs of that service --


MS. LEA:  They're not included ‑‑


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  ‑‑ would not be included in the costs that were included in this application.  I hope that we were ‑‑ we tried to be clear in terms of what costs were included, that it was transportation service.  We identified which -- to the extent that we used other parties’ tariff rates, which tariffs we were operating under.  


To the extent that there are parties that have transportation and storage services, we only included the transportation services costs to try to make clear that we were quantifying that particular function of the pipeline, which would be the link for something like a 100-percent load factor transportation, which is a common way of comparing alternatives.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Now, sir, when you considered the Union T1 rate and provided evidence with respect to what its costs would be if were you to take it, in that circumstance you included the tariff for all of the services that are bundled for that rate, because, as far as I understand your application, it's your view that those cannot be unbundled, and so you had to provide the bundled cost?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No.  Let me clarify that.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Even though, in my understanding, that you really couldn't operate with T1 transportation service without also having a T1 storage service.


We only had ‑‑ the only costs that were included for the Union T1 service were the transportation rate components, as you will see on the Exhibit C that you pointed me to earlier.  It doesn't have storage demand, storage commodity, storage fuel added on.


MS. LEA:  What I'm trying to understand, sir, is that at page 38 of your application, you've given us a table that's Exhibit B, page 38.  And you provide us there with some costs of the Union Gas T1 service, and if I need to look at another exhibit, please direct me to it.  Please let me know.


Then Union provided its estimate of the costs of the service at its schedule 6, which you may want to turn up, unless you know this well, anyway.  And there is a difference of about 1.5 to 2.9 million, depending on the annual capacity factor, between those costs.


Do you have any understanding as to from what that difference derives?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I may need some help in finding exactly where it is.


MS. LEA:  Please take your time, or is there if there is a better exhibit or information to look at, then I would be happy to do that.


MR. MORAN:  To assist the witnesses, I think Ms. Lea is referring to schedule 6 to Union's application.


MS. LEA:  I beg your pardon, Mr. Moran.  Thank you, that's helpful.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  I think it's fairly easy to explain.  I mean, Union, in this particular analysis, is looking at revenue to Union.  In our exhibits, we're looking at costs to GEC.


The big difference is that they ‑‑ is the fuel, which is between $1- and $2 million per year, depending on how you factor it.  And part of the issue is the fact that since the time we prepared these exhibits, the forward curve on natural gas is a little bit higher.  I think our more recent estimates, when we're looking at what the cost of that fuel would be, it would be even higher.  So I think that explains the difference.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  You're saying that that gap has widened, if anything, since the evidence was filed?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.


A few questions, then, about how you intend to ensure security of supply to the plant.  Can you provide an update with respect to requiring FT capacity on Vector?  Is there any progress on this or what's your plan?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Our plan is to ‑‑ our plan is to purchase FT service from any party, only to the extent that it is required.  I think that at a number of different cases and points in our evidence, we talk about the plan to purchase gas on a number of different ‑‑ using a number of different strategies or approaches.


Certainly the best way for us to buy gas would be to buy gas from someone who already has Vector transportation capacity.


MS. LEA:  Okay, so that ‑‑


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  So we don't feel like we are going to need transportation capacity ‑‑ firm transportation capacity for all of our usage.


We have ‑‑ we certainly are talking to Vector.  We're talking about the importance for the plant to be able to purchase gas reliably at Dawn and move it back to the point of interconnection, and that's a distance of 10 to 12 miles.  It's not a whole lot of distance, but it is a very important distance for us.


That can be done with -‑ Union can do that now with existing facilities.  They will execute a firm transportation contract for whatever quantity we feel that is necessary for the plant.  That will be subject to their Canadian tariff.


MS. LEA:  Their Canadian tariff?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Their Canadian tariff.  We know that ‑‑ excuse me.  I'm pointed out I might have said Union when I meant Vector.


So going back, we have had discussions with Vector Pipeline about the transportation from the Dawn hub to our plant and know that we can purchase capacity from them using their existing facilities.  It is not dependant on any expansion.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  What about discussions with Vector shippers on purchasing gas supply?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We've had a number of discussions, and that's as far as we've gone, in terms of talking to a number of parties who have expressed a great deal of interest in getting our business, put it that way.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, in its intervenor evidence, Union pointed out - I think it was at pages 47 and 48, but I don't think you need to turn it up - that since Vector's operation began, there were 43 days during which the physical volume flowing to Dawn on Vector was actually less than your requirement of 2,000 and 8,000 gJs per day.


If that situation occurs on a day when you do actually require that amount of gas, how would you cover that deficiency, or perhaps you could address the question in terms of what your plans are?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That issue of the ability to utilize firm back haul on Vector Pipeline is an issue that is causing us some concern.  We expect that that issue will be resolved.  It's an issue.


[Technical difficulty]


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It's something that I said.


MS. LEA:  Just give us a moment.  The system is off right now, sir.


MS. LEA:  Have another try, Mr. Rosenkranz.  I don't think we're going to blame you for it.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Okay.  The question that you raised was based on some information provided by Union Gas stating that if Greenfield Energy Centre was going to be depending on displacement deliveries from the Dawn hub to our meter, that historically there had been days that the amount of forward-haul capacity on the Vector system that would be available for displacement, was less than the maximum   daily consumption of the plant.
     That, as I was starting to say, that is something that is of some concern to us to understand, there's the discrepancy between what we're hearing from Vector Pipeline and what we're hearing from Union Gas.  Our understanding is that Vector is prepared to receive gas physically at Dawn and deliver it back to our meter so that those forward flows by other parties would not be necessary in order to affect deliveries from Dawn to our meter.
     That's not something that would prevent us from operating, because again we can always flow on a 

forward-haul basis.  Essentially if there is not a lot of gas flowing west to east to allow displacement, that must mean that there is space available in that line that we would be able to forward haul.  So to say that we would have trouble back hauling by displacement would be inconsistent with saying that we would not be able to forward haul by direct delivery of gas from west to east.
     So, again, it is something that concerns us.  It appears to have something to do with the -- not the physical interconnection between Vector and Union at Dawn.  Vector has confirmed to us that that is a bi-directional meter that will allow physical receipts from Union.  It appears to us to have something to do with the commercial arrangements and the way that Union itself is operating the Dawn hub and is something we need to get to the bottom of.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Is there any question in your mind that remains, having read Union's evidence, whether Union can physically supply you?  Leaving aside the question of costs for the moment, there is still some question about whether they can provide what you need on a physical basis either.  You mentioned timing concerns; you mentioned flexibility concerns.
     I would like to understand what remains now, in your minds, about their ability to serve you.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I would say that Union should be able to provide service to this plant.  I don't think there has ever been overly much concern in our minds that Union is a feasible option.  We have not nailed down issues like delivery pressure, although they have provided new information on that that appears to put a different light on that particular issue.
     We certainly have a concern - and this gets back to my initial comments - on timing, as you said.  But you know, I would say that that is related to the fact that we don't have a contract with them.  So for them to say hypothetically what they're going to do, based on the fact they don't have a commitment to do something, is not something that I would say is a failed flaw in their ability to provide physical, as you stated, service to this plant.
     MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  I may have misheard you, and correct me if I did, during your testimony in-chief.  Are you still exploring options with Union for them to serve you?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  At this point in time, we are not in any discussions with Union.  I mean, I will say that it's my job to never say "never".  I mean, in terms of any feasible options that is out there, if it can supply, if it's a better supply option for our project, if someone is coming to us with an idea, we're not going to turn them away and not listen to them.  We have had discussions more recently with Union Gas.
     However, we don't have any type of agreement with Union Gas.  There is nothing, in terms of our discussions with Union Gas, which causes us to change our decision that this pipeline is the best option, it's an important option for the project, and that it should be approved.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  You spoke -- and I think this is my last question in this area; you may be relieved to hear, not in my whole examination, but in this area.
     You've spoken at times, and in your evidence it's stated, that additional flexibility for your operations can be offered through this pipeline, which, as I understood it, could not be obtained through service from Union.  Can you clarify that, whether I have the correct understanding, that it's simply not available from Union?  And if that is the case, can you give me a specific example of the flexibility that you can achieve through your line, which you could not access through Union?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think we need to make a distinction between physically what could be done, and contractual, contractual flexibility.
     I think with respect to the statements that you referenced we're talking about the fact that Union Gas supplies these types of delivery services under structures that -- bundled or semi-bundled structures, they're very much pushing us towards T1.  And we don't see that under that arrangement we have the same types of contracting flexibility, because as I said before, I don't see that we can – that, you know, we would need T1 storage to get T1 transportation.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We would have more limitations in terms of, I believe, how we acquire gas, because we would essentially be locked into certain commitments with Union that would keep us from looking elsewhere.
     MS. LEA:  So it's the structure of the T1 rate that causes your problem?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It is the structure of the T1 rate.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.  Thank you.  Okay.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  And other -- not to say that, you know, we have discussed with Union other rate schedules, but they're very much focussed on offering this under T1.
     MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  

Mr. Chairman, I've come to a natural break point in my questioning.  I don't know what time you wanted to take your morning break.
     MR. VLAHOS:  This will be a good time, Ms. Lea.  Let's break for 20 minutes.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.
     -‑‑ Recess taken at 10:25 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 10:45 a.m.


MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  Ms. Lea.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Good morning again, gentlemen.


I would like to turn to a slightly different scenario now.  As I understand your evidence, if this pipeline application is denied there is a risk that the generating station will not be built; is that correct?


MR. WENDELGASS:  That is correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And I also ‑‑ it's my impression from your evidence - correct me if I'm wrong - that other than saying that there is a risk, you're not able or prepared at this time to begin to quantify the level of risk for us that the station would not be built?


MR. WENDELGASS:  That's correct also, yes.


MS. LEA:  Now, I understand in the contract that you have with the government, in section 5 of that contract, there are penalties for failure to perform under the contract as stated; is that correct?


MR. WENDELGASS:  Yes, there are.


MS. LEA:  So if the investors decided not to proceed with the project, is there a risk that you would face that penalty?


MR. WENDELGASS:  There is a risk of that.  That would be something that the investors would take into account in evaluating the Board's decision.


MS. LEA:  And can you assist us as to what amount of security you could potentially be liable for?


MR. WENDELGASS:  In the event that we did not build the plant and it was not an event of force majeure, we could be liable for the full amount of the payment of performance security we posted with the OPA, which is slightly in excess of $50 million Canadian, fifty-and-a-quarter, 50,250,000, I think, to be precise.


MS. LEA:  From what you just said, I gather that there is also a question that you may have considered as to whether denial of this application would constitute a force majeure under the contract.

MR. WENDELGASS:  That is something that we thought about.  We continue to think about.


MS. LEA:  You and I aren't going to decide it here today, of course.


MR. WENDELGASS:  No.


MS. LEA:  But I gather the relevant provisions for that are in the contract at section 10, and my read of the contract suggests that section 10.3(g) and (h) deal with failure to get necessary permits and so on in the contract.

MR. WENDELGASS:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Would there, in your view, be another effect of a choice by the Board to deny this application, and that would be the discouragement of investment in electricity generation in Ontario?


MR. WENDELGASS:  I think it has the potential to chill the investment climate by essentially indicating to investors that their options for making their own business decisions are going to be constrained by the environment that is set forth by the Board's decision.


MS. LEA:  Can I explore one aspect of that answer with you, sir?  You have a contract with the government, which includes ‑- is it called a net revenue requirement?


MR. WENDELGASS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  NNR, yes.  If the Board's decision was that ‑‑ and you will see the Board may be deciding some policy issues in this hearing.  If the Board's decision was that this pipeline cannot be built and, in general, this type of application may not be in the public interest, if the Board were to make that kind of finding, would it not be the case that all bidders to the OPA would put the costs of, for example, buying service from Union into the bid, and therefore they would all have an equal chance of being competitive?


MR. WENDELGASS:  Well, I ...

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think they all have an equal chance of being competitive now.


MS. LEA:  Hmm‑hmm.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  As long as all of the parties have the same information available to them, there should be no concerns about decisions that we might have made, for example, being unfair competition in some way.  I state that, because that is something that has been raised some place by some of the intervenors.


MS. LEA:  Perhaps I'm not expressing myself very well.


I know this is not the situation.  If the rule was in Ontario that, in all circumstances, you definitely have to take service from the utility - in other words, if the Board declares there is absolutely no option for any other build by a generation builder - and I know that is not the situation now, but would it not be the case that those costs could be factored into the bid to the OPA?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It would still raise the question of what costs.


MS. LEA:  And can you ‑‑ can you help me a bit more with understanding that answer, sir?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Because, under the current regime, there still is the opportunity to negotiate, within bounds, the gas transportation and storage rates with utilities.


I mean, depending on ‑‑ it's not clear to me how that, you know, would work, other than the government stepping in and negotiating the services on behalf of each generator so that they would know what those services are.  Otherwise, you would just be putting the parties in a situation where you would have recognized the ability for some level of competition even within tariff rates, and you would, to some extent, eliminate all of the ability of one of the parties to negotiate.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  I think I understand your answer.  In part, that is that there is uncertainty and room for negotiation within the very rates that exist now?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.  So just saying that everyone shall take Union or Enbridge distribution service, depending on where they are located, I don't think solves whatever perceived problem there is of people then needing to still negotiate, and perhaps it's not ‑‑ I guess in my mind it is not a problem, because you're looking for the parties that are best able to negotiate deals that are in the commercial interests within the bounds of the public interest.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  In its Procedural Order No. 1, the Board mentioned that one of the factors it might consider in this decision was access of others to the pipeline.


I understand that you're not proposing to have anyone else served off this pipeline.  This is a single-use pipe for your facility?


MR. WENDELGASS:  That is correct.


MS. LEA:  And we haven't yet heard from Union on this, and I would need to ask them questions, as well, about their ability to serve off any facility they created.


Does the fact that no service to others will be available from this pipe mean that there is a public interest benefit that is lacking in your application?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I don't believe so, because there are ‑‑ first of all, this pipe will be designed, whether it is designed by Union or us, to serve this power plant.  It's not been designed for other uses.


There are other gas lines in the area for serving smaller loads, even good-size industrial loads.  It wouldn't be necessary to provide service in that area.  It is not a new service area for Union, so it's not ‑‑ it's hard for me to understand what is lost.


Also ‑- and this is certainly an issue that we deal with on a regular basis.  If we were to enter an agreement with a utility company, we would need to protect ourselves and make sure that there are constraints on what the utility can do down the road, in terms of adding other loads to that same pipeline, so that it doesn't put -‑ doesn't affect our ability to operate; it doesn't affect the flows available to us; it doesn't affect the pressures available to us.  


So to some extent, because it is designed as a single‑use pipeline, even if it is done by Union, I think that there would be constraints on how useful that would be for future loads.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Another thing that the Board indicated that it would consider in this case is the cost and revenue impacts to the gas utility and the utility's other customers.


And as I understand your evidence, your position is that because this is, if I can put it this way, incremental load, no duplication of facilities is occurring, that there is no downside to Union's other customers or its own revenues; is that correct?


MR. WENDELGASS:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  And do you then recognize any public interest or value, perhaps, in the opportunity cost that may be lost if you build your own pipeline?  In other words, the revenues that Union would have gotten and the possibly lower rates that might have been achieved, is that something the Board should consider here?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  In our viewpoint, that's something that the Board should consider.  It's a matter of 

cross-subsidies, from one particular user to, you know, other users on the system.  It certainly is not sending the proper price signals to new users who may be looking at where to locate on the system, if they're looking at -- or the decision to work within the utility framework or try to work outside the utility framework, if they know that there will essentially be these extra transfers from one party to another -- from one class -- from themselves to other customers.
     So it is certainly something that appears to be a public -- if there is a public policy objective to deal with the rates paid by other users, there are other ways of dealing with it that may be better at getting the benefits to the end users that the public authority is trying to help, without putting someone like the utility in the middle.
     And recall, the extra cost to dealing with a utility, part of it goes would go to these other customers.  Part of it is kept by the utility, in terms of them building facilities, them adding to rate base, them getting a return on that rate base.  So it is not a very efficient mechanism for making those types of transfers.
     MS. LEA:  So it would be your position that there is not a loss of economic efficiency in granting this application?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No.  It's consistent with economic efficiency.  If, by economic efficiency, we're looking at having particularly new entrants, entrants added to the gas market, looking at being responsible for the costs, the incremental costs of their actions and acting on those price signals, in terms of how they utilize gas, how they procure their gas and how they locate large facilities like this.
     MS. LEA:  The Board might also be concerned about a threat to the financial viability of the distributor if other customers decide that this is the best way to go.  If this application is granted, other customers may either choose not to attach to the system or may migrate off the system by utilizing the ability to build their own pipelines.  Would you care to address that particular -- it's one of the Board's objectives to maintain the financial viability of distribution and transmission gas utilities.  Do you want to address that question?  
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think, as a threshold issue, I think my understanding is that the decision in this case doesn't really change or create that type of precedent, because the ability of those other parties to apply for a direct connect or a bypass already exists, in principle.  The fact that it hasn't occurred yet doesn't mean that that ability is not already there.
     Also, we're looking at a situation where this plant is very large as a gas user, relative to any other existing loads on the Union Gas system.  We have located very close to the pipeline systems.  I mean, there are a lot of very specific circumstances here that don't necessarily mean that others are going to be in the same position.
     Finally, with respect to true bypass, where you're looking at parties that are existing shippers or existing customers to a utility that are leaving a system, you have a lot of different issues of stranded costs that would need to be dealt with.  So we don't see that this would be –- again, it's another very important distinction between this case and any future cases that would come up like that.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Is there a concern that there would be -- that the -- I want to put this in a way that's -- I guess what I'm trying to say is:  Is there a concern that there might be inequity between electricity generators based on where they locate?  And one answer to that might be, well, they choose where they locate.
     I wonder, though, if there may be other factors than access to the gas pipelines that you talked about that determine that siting decision.  Is there a concern that generators or any other class of customer with this kind of demand and this kind of need, that there will be discrimination among those customers based on whether or not they can locate or are located next to TCPL, Vector or a similar pipeline.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  My answer from an economic perspective is that, providing people an incentive to locate closer to major transmission lines is not a bad thing.
     MS. LEA:  Gas or electricity, sir?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I'm sorry.  Gas transmission facilities; locate closer to pipelines for a large load like this is a good thing, in terms of being consistent with a rational development of the natural gas infrastructure.
     Again, people getting the price signals and acting on them.
     MS. LEA:  And another public interest would be, of course, some encouragement to locate near the -- for a generator to locate near electrical loads or, as you've pointed out, near electricity transmission lines that can carry out the output of these generating stations.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Exactly.  It would be providing the same types of incentives on the gas side as you have location decision on the power side.  So people are making the proper trade-off between those transmission connection costs and the gas connection costs.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  We've touched on this slightly this morning, but I wanted to return to it.  It's the second bullet point in Procedural Order No. 1.  The Board suggested it might consider alternatives to bypass, including special rates.  I understand very clearly that you are not seeking a special rate in this application.  You're not seeking to be a Union customer.  You wish to build your own line.
     But I wonder if you could be of assistance to the Board in understanding the needs that you or customers like you bring to the system.  Could you describe what would be an ideal service or set of services that a utility could provide for a customer with your type of need?  I'm not trying to enter a new -- start some negotiation here.  I'm really trying to understand what's different about you, what we have to think about when we're making this decision.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think that the important thing for a large end user like Greenfield Energy Centre is that we really need to operate in an environment where we can make the best use of the available services that are there, the services that are offered on a level playing field; that we're not being pushed to deal with party A as opposed to party B because of some artificial barriers in the marketplace.
     So I think the important things that we're looking for are just basic principles of unbundling, in excess to the services.  I think that -- you opened a question that -- you opened the danger that I would keep talking all day.  I think that a lot of ideas, a lot of thoughts that we have, a lot of things that we faced in other circumstances, I can't say that there is any one ideal service that fits what we need.
     I think that what we need is choice.  We really need the ability to operate in a market that's operating efficiently, that doesn't have artificial barriers, and that allows us to make the best choices based on that full range of opportunities.
     MS. LEA:  Can you give me an example -- pardon me if the answer to this question is too obvious -- a couple of examples of the artificial barriers you believe may exist now, in the Ontario market?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Well, I think an obvious one would be any artificial restriction to us dealing with, say, Vector pipeline as opposed to having to go through Union Gas.  It certainly puts Union Gas in a position where they would be offering us services at a distribution level without really the same competition, you know, a level playing field.  They would be giving preferential access to our business, and we're not sure that that is a necessary thing.


So I guess that would be one example I would point out, a pretty obvious one.


MS. LEA:  So the artificial imposition of a monopoly service, where that monopoly service is neither efficient nor required?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's right.  I mean, I see it as potentially turning the public utility obligation that Union Gas has, as a regulated monopoly, on its head and essentially giving them a ‑‑ it doesn't make sense to give them the right to force service on people who don't need service.  I don't see the public interest angle in that.


Again, it clearly takes away from the efficient operation of the markets if we're able to get the services that we need from a variety of players, of which Union Gas would be one.


MS. LEA:  Would you acknowledge that there is some degree of natural monopoly in the provision of transportation and distribution pipeline services; that is, actually pushing gas through a pipe as opposed to any other service that might be bundled with that?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I don't think that the natural monopoly features of gas transportation are going to show up in all circumstances.  I think they certainly do not show up in the circumstance of deciding who is going to construct two kilometres of gas interconnection facilities.


MS. LEA:  To a single user?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  For a single user, thank you, yes.  I mean, there certainly are issues.


I mean, I think it is important to look at things from our perspective, in terms of the way large end users, such as power generators, are being dealt with in Ontario at the utility level as opposed to other classes of customers.


I mean, there's been a lot put on the record about postage stamp rates and the fact that some people are winners, some people are losers, depending on where you're located.  You may be paying more than the cost of serving you, but someone ‑‑ or you may be paying less than the cost of serving you.


Our experience is that that doesn't work for a party such as a large power generator that is going to be connecting ‑‑ that needs service in this marketplace.


If the prevailing rates for that service are such that you're not meeting the profitability index of one to provide service, because we're farther away from existing transmission lines, we would make up the difference.


So it's very much a ‑‑ we're not getting the benefits of that integrated system and integrated pricing.  It's very much a "heads I win, tails I lose", of we're always paying our incremental cost, or more, which doesn't -- again, doesn't seem to make sense.  I mean, there should be a principle that you're paying your incremental cost and perhaps some contribution to the system.  


You shouldn't pay ‑‑ I think we certainly are in agreement that we're not supposed to come into the market -- like, it doesn't make sense for us to come into a market like this and expect to be subsidized.  At the same time, we don't expect to come into a market like this and automatically create substance.


 MS. LEA:  Just to be very clear - again, pardon me, if we've already covered part of this - the characteristics that play into the analysis that you have just given us of the user would be that it is a large load; that the user has the capability of managing its own gas supply; that the user has the capability of building its own pipeline and operating it competently.  Those are three things I've identified.


I know that in this situation that we have here, in this application before us, there is no duplication of pipelines.  You're very close to another pipeline, and you are a new ‑‑ you would be a new load if you were to join the Union system.


Are there any other characteristics that you think are important in understanding the type of user those electricity generators, or people like them, the sort of needs that they have that are different?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I would have to say, listening to the list that you put out there, it appeared to cover my ‑‑ the issues I would say are important and certainly the issues that we have here that make this direct supply alternative both feasible and reasonable options.


I can't leave this question without stating, though, that those circumstances may not exist for all power generators, so I don't want to generalize --


MS. LEA:  I understand that.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  ‑‑ to say that those same characteristics are the same for all power generators, that all power generators will want to go this route or certainly wouldn't say that they're not power generators that would be very happy with a Union T1 service.  That's certainly not the position we're taking.


MS. LEA:  Your point is it's not the end use.  It is the characteristics of the user.  It's not the end use of the gas, not the fact you're a power generator.  It is the characteristic as of you as a user of gas?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think that's fair.  We're not looking at ‑‑ certainly we're not in here asking for any particular rates, but in other circumstances we haven't been particularly in favour of end-use rates for power generators.  We're looking more at the nature of the load of making sure that large end users, who are capable of managing their business, essentially coming back to the use of the word -- at the wholesale level, are not required to pay the extra costs and take the extra services of being a retail customer.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  On a completely different topic, yesterday ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Lea, if I may interject for a moment?  If I can follow up on that, what about an explicit government policy with respect to one particular sector?  Would that be something of consideration, in your view?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I'm not sure that I understand exactly what you're ‑‑ what type of policy you're talking about in order to take a position on that.


MR. VLAHOS:  You're talking about any industrial user that has certain characteristics.  You have to be large.  You have to be able to do all those things.  That would encompass a lot of interest.  I guess my question to you is:  Is there also consideration that government policy may favour this time or another industry another time?  Would that be something that has to be taken into consideration in the minds of the Board?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think that the principle that I was trying to communicate ‑ and we did get into kind of looking at individual industries, individual end uses ‑ is that the opportunity should be available to all participants in the market and allow them to self-select how they want to, in this case, acquire their gas supply.


We certainly are not looking for special treatment of power generators.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Ms. Lea, if I may, just one more area.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, please.  


MR. VLAHOS:  There was some discussion about the siting plants and how one regime or other regime would impact the siting versus another rate regime.  


You mentioned that if you are a large customer, you would have to -- if you connect with the utility, you probably will have to pay some kind of contribution in aid of construction.  So that in itself would probably dictate or would be one consideration in terms of siting a plant?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's exactly true.


MR. VLAHOS:  Is it?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  To some extent, we're kind of half -- to my mind, we're kind of half way over the fence here.  For some circumstances, we do have that signal of, if you go too far, you are going to be responsible for contribution aid.  But then there is not the opportunity to say:  If I get closer, that I'm reducing the facilities that need to be constructed, I'm automatically getting that price signal to keep going, is I think what I was trying to say.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Ms. Lea.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Vlahos.  

My last question, gentlemen.
     Yesterday, I gave to your counsel a set of conditions.  The Board traditionally imposes certain leave-to-construct conditions relating to construction practices.  I didn't ask you this yesterday, Mr. Wendelgass, although it would have been more appropriate for that panel, because I didn't think you had time to look at it.  I don't know whether you've had time yet.
     MR. MORAN:  Unfortunately, Mr. Chair, we didn't have time to look at them yet.
     MS. LEA:  Will you undertake to get back to us, then, on that.
     MR. MORAN:  Absolutely, yes.
     MS. LEA:  So perhaps the undertaking would be to examine the proposed Board Staff conditions of approval, they're all related to construction matters, and I will supply them to other parties now that the applicant has them.  And if we could make that, with the consent of the Board, Undertaking U2.2.  So Exhibit U2.2.
     Let me be specific.  The undertaking would be to provide a set of conditions based on ours with which you agree.  So if you like them all, great; if you don't, tell us what we need to work on.
     MR. MORAN:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, we will provide the response to that.
     UNDERTAKING NO. U2.2:  provide set of conditions, based on proposed Board Staff conditions of approval related to construction matters with which GEC agreeS
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions for this panel.  Thank you.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  

Mr. Janigan, would you like to go next?
     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. JANIGAN:
     MR. JANIGAN:  Panel, I have been greatly assisted by the questions of Ms. Lea in relation to the areas that I want to deal with.  So some of my questioning may be, in fact, attempting to go over and make sure I understand some of the answers that you gave to Ms. Lea.
     Now, as I understand it, at the time of the making of your RFP in December 15th, 2004, you had discussed with Union aspects of supplying in the plant pursuant to a T1 rate or some other rate; am I correct on that?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's correct.  We had discussions with Union Gas and we discussed the T1 rate.  We also asked them about other available rates.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I see in your pre-filed evidence that I referred to yesterday, that there was a letter from Vector to you, Mr. Rosenkranz, of July 11th, 2005 - I don't think you need to turn it up - that indicated that Vector was prepared to enter into negotiations with GEC.
     Is it fair to say that you had discussions with Vector after the RFP was presented to the government?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No -– yes, we had discussion with them after.  We also had discussions with them before.
     MR. JANIGAN:  I'm curious of the timing of the letter, July 11th, 2005, that Vector is prepared to enter into negotiations with GEC.  One would have thought that that kind of letter would have been prepared and delivered prior to the making of the RFP.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We didn't feel that -- that was certainly something that we clearly understood with Vector, that they were willing to allow us to make a connection.  They felt that, certainly on the US side and they feel as a matter of their business policy, that it applies when they cross the border, that they have no reason not to allow these types of interconnections.  And, in fact, on the US side they have the affirmative obligation to interconnect with other gas facilities that are willing to compensate them.
     So at that point in time, it would have been considered unnecessary.  We felt that it would be something that would be helpful as part of this application, to have that letter in our submission.
     MR. JANIGAN:  And so in terms of the past history with Vector, it then provided sufficient comfort to make the RFP on December 11th -- December 15th, is that what I'm hearing you say?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  Our discussions with Vector left us comfortable that we would be able to connect with Vector.  Our discussions with TransCanada left us comfortable that we would be able to connect with TransCanada, if we felt that made sense.
     MR. JANIGAN:  But in terms of the evaluation of the services that were to be provided to the pipeline and the costs associated with those services, at the time of the submission of December 15th, 2004 and to some extent today, those costs have not been finalized in any respect.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is correct.  In terms of having signed contracts with parties for specific services at specific rates.
     MR. JANIGAN:  And exactly what services you're going to take advantage of, for example, for Vector or possibly Union or possibly TCPL.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is correct.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So I'm trying to look at the -- what's the irreducible core of your application.  I mean, because there is so much that might depend upon negotiations and agreement, the irreducible core, I take it, is that you will build and manage your own pipeline to this power plant; is that correct?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think that is an excellent way of saying it, I mean, in terms of what we believe this proceeding is about is that short segment of two kilometres of pipeline that would give us access to the Vector system, and then everything we can reach from Vector.
     MR. JANIGAN:  And in terms of looking at the costs of what might be supplied by any of these services, I take it there is no real figure that we can use to compare to, for example, what it might cost for Union to build a pipeline and supply your power plant?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I can understand that people are looking for that comparison.  As I explained, to my mind, it's a difficult if not impossible comparison to make on a precise basis.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We put a lot of -- it's not just about the costs of the pipeline or the service we would get from Union versus what we would do to replicate that particular service.  It's all of the other options that it opens up to us.  The option value, I mean, in terms of having greater access and greater control of those upstream alternatives.
     MR. JANIGAN:  But as I understood your discussions with Ms. Lea is that the advantages come in the form of contractual flexibility, management flexibility.  And at some point in time in the future you're going to nail down as best a cost arrangement as you can with a number of these firms that supply services.  Is that correct?  Is that effectively what we're looking at, as it stands today?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  If you will allow me to take your question and maybe bend it a little bit, I think that what it does - looking from the power plant out - I mean, it's not leaving us floating.  In our minds, the first thing it does is it does nail down exactly the cost, reliability, access terms for that critical last two kilometres of link to get us to existing gas supply.
     So yes, you're looking at the fact that we still have not nailed down everything that goes out from that.  But compared to where we would be with Union Gas, once we've built that piece of pipe we will know that if we put gas into that pipe from Vector, that gas, absent some force majeure event, will show up at our plant.
     Once we have paid for that piece of pipe, we know what that costs.  There is not going to be a rate increase.  We know that when we put the gas in from Vector, in that piece of pipe, all of that gas is going to show up at our plant.  There is not going to be retainage for compressor fuel, or use and loss that we don't incur.


So I know what you're saying in terms of things being left open, but I'm taking an opportunity to use your question to make clear what this does, in terms of nailing down some critical portions of our gas supply costs.


MR. JANIGAN:  To be fair, Mr. Rosenkranz, I think what you have indicated is things that give management flexibility and potential contractual flexibility.  But in terms of the costs itself, certainly you would agree, if Union builds the pipeline, you can be certain that the gas will be arriving at your plant?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I absolutely disagree with that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Why do you disagree with that?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I disagree that if we're taking service from Union that we would not be subject to potential curtailment policies or allocation of gas or be affected in terms of our deliveries based on things that happened further away from our pipeline.


I mean, it's a trade-off, but it's something that is a risk we're concerned about.


MR. JANIGAN:  So you have to weigh the uncertainties associated with a delivery of gas through the Vector pipeline with the uncertainties of being serviced by the Union pipeline, I take it?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  To the extent that we have one connection to Vector, we have a pipeline that we can serve from either end.  We do have the issue of Vector.  Again, Vector is 10 to 12 miles from the Dawn hub, at which point Vector has access to other sources of supply, storage ‑‑ excuse me.  Parties delivering gas into Vector would have access to those things, as well.  


So we don't feel like we're straining ourselves and putting ourselves in a situation where we're dependant on, say, one pipeline.  We don't have access to a lot of the other things in the market.


MR. JANIGAN:  We'll explore some aspects of that certainty later, but I want to get back to the costs situation, because I believe some of your evidence details, I think in Exhibit B, in tables 2 and 5, that if you take T1 service for Union, that the costs will be $6 to $8 million higher annually than under your proposal.


As it stands currently, that number is not a hard number.  In other words, it doesn't take into consideration, for example, potential negotiations with Union associated wit that rate, any other sorts of arrangements that you may or may not enter into with other firms supplying that service; am I correct on that?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The $6 to $8 million that's in Exhibit B, in terms of comparing the Union case that's presented versus the self-build case that is presented, does not include all of the various costs and potential for negotiated rate, so I will agree with you that that is not a number that people should look at as saying that that is the absolute difference in costs that we're going to be looking at with the pipeline versus without the pipeline.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, as I understand it, and looking to the build option, GEC anticipates using a number of Vector pipeline services to meet its needs.  Is that still the plan, or is that still sort of up in the air?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The existence of those services, such as the hourly service or the MBA service, are certainly considerations that make us more comfortable with going with Vector, because we know that they have those services in place that will facilitate the types of variability in gas deliveries that we need.  But we haven't made commitments to utilize any specific requirements of those services or made decisions in terms of whether the plant would be, say, holding FTH service on Vector versus a supplier that would bring the gas to us.  So that's the answer.


MR. JANIGAN:  But in terms of these services, the Board shouldn't look to, let's say, for example, Union's services under -- specific T1 services under the tariffs and try to compare them at this point in time in order to determine the attractiveness of an alternative, for example.  We're not at that point yet; is that what you're saying?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I'm not sure that we're ever to that point.  I mean, I think that getting down to your position of this, just getting down to the core or kernel of what this application is about, we feel that the Board should look at the fundamental facilities aspects of this pipeline and be less concerned about exactly what GEC's costs are going to be under various alternatives.


We presented that information to highlight the fact that we did look at alternatives, highlight the fact that different alternatives had different trade-offs between fixed and variable costs that we felt were important, but also tried to point out that we are pursuing this particular option because of other things, such as this contracting flexibility and the ability to deal with other suppliers that we felt would we have less opportunity to do with the Union alternative, for example.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the Union alternative, the T1 service is more than just a gas distribution service.  Would you agree with me?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Could you expand on what you mean by that?


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, for example, under T1 service from Union, you would have access to cost-based storage, would you not?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Our understanding is that we would currently have access to cost-based storage from Union.  It's not clear what the future of cost-based storage will be on the Union system.  So you've opened up a difficult question there.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the T1 service assumes that gas supplied to Union's system will be delivered to GEC's plant, albeit on an interruptible service; is that your understanding?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Excuse me?  No.  I mean, there's the ‑‑ the presentation in our application was based entirely on firm T1 service.


MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  And, once again, your estimates of fuel management costs and third-party storage and balancing costs under your proposal weren't a substantial driver, in terms of your decision to go with the build option in comparison to Union?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Certainly all of those costs entered into our decision making.  I didn't mean to say that they weren't important.


I think what we're trying to say ‑‑ what I was trying to say is that, in the ‑‑ I was talking about the issues that the Board should consider in this application and the relative weight they should put on a particular scenario of costs versus the other issues that we have discussed.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So for the purpose of comparing the applications, then, we shouldn't be looking at the $6- to $8 million figure.  Really, we should be looking at the greater issue of whether or not you should have the flexibility to build your own pipeline and to manage it in the way you see fit.  Is that effectively what you're saying?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think that is fair, that the $6- to $8 million has not been put forward as being a determinative number; that the Board should consider our ability to construct and operate this pipeline, and the other aspects of what this means, to allow us to operate in the manner that we've proposed.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, Union's evidence and intervenor evidence suggests there are a number of advantages associated with taking T1 service.


Under Union's T1 service, I understand you don't have to nominate deliveries to your plant.  Am I correct on that?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Those kinds of questions are better directed to Union Gas, to be honest with you.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Surely you have looked at that circumstance when you considered the Union option at some point in time.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, we did look at various options that were offered by Union Gas.
     MR. JANIGAN:  But the specifics --
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  And tried to understand, the best we could, the T1 service.  So I will ask a question, I was just trying to offer some help.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  If you're not familiar with the specifics, I can go on.  Would you be -- are you familiar with the fact that you don't have to nominate deliveries to the plant or balance daily?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  My understanding of the T1 service is that it is a consumption-based service.  So that Union will utilize storage balances to deliver gas to the user, even if that gas has not been nominated by the user, if the gas is there, however.
     My understanding is that it's not a no-notice service in terms of whatever you do.  You're always going to be able to get gas.
     MR. JANIGAN:  And in terms of the effect of consumption overruns under your build option, can you compare that to what may exist for a T1 customer under Union?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Are you asking in terms of quantities, percentages, costs, in terms of the overruns?
     MR. JANIGAN:  In terms first of quantities.  What sort of cost implications would that have in terms of your circumstance, your preferred circumstance of not being a T1 customer?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The T1 -- again, my understanding is that the amount of flexibility you have in the T1 service in terms of daily imbalances is going to be tied to the amount of storage and injection, firm storage and injection withdrawal capacity that you have in your bundled T1 storage; and with respect to how much space is available in that storage that you contracted for or if you're pulling gas, how much gas is there for you to draw on a particular day.
     So my understanding is that a lot of things that enter into how much flexibility you would have at a particular point in time utilizing that storage.  That storage does have substantial fixed costs, even under the current cost-base regime.
     There are variable costs for going in and out of storage, particularly fuel and a small variable charge if you're balancing, you know, irrespective of whether that gas actually physically went in and out of storage or not.  The fact you're creating the balance one side or the other, you are incurring variable costs.  

But the point I would like to -- the more important point I would like to make is that when we manage a large power plant like this, we're very aware of what our imbalances are and our ability to keep the daily deliveries to the plant available to the plant as close as possible to our actual consumption is something that we want to be able to do, to minimize those costs.
     Our concern about the T1 is, yes, it provides that flexibility if you have the storage and manage that storage.  It's taking away from our ability to reduce our costs further by keeping those imbalances as low as possible, which is, I would say, a more efficient way to operate the plant.
     MR. JANIGAN:  And those kinds of services are going to be provided by Calpine, as I understand it.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No.  I'm sorry.  I want to make sure that we're clear in terms of the role of Calpine in the fuel management here.  They will be entirely as agent.  It will be GEC that will be the party contracting for natural gas, contracting for various services.  In terms of a fuel manager to provide the personnel that will be working with the plant, managing the dispatch of the bidding and dispatch of the power and coordinating that with purchase and dispatch of the natural gas, Calpine will be doing that, but as an agent.  Not providing actual services.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Well, will Calpine receive a fee for being an agent?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Calpine, as part of the agreement with the partnership of Calpine providing certain types of services, yes, Calpine will be -- Calpine Energy Services will be the entity that will be providing that service to the partnership, and, yes, there will be a fee.
     MR. JANIGAN:  And it's estimated that the provision of these services by GEC with Calpine as an agent will be provided at a cost that less than what could be provided, for example, by Union under the T1 services.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It's estimated that we'll be able to –- I’ll go as far to say that we believe we'll better be able to manage those costs.  I'm not going to sit here and say under all circumstances we will keep those -- and on every given day, we will keep those costs lower than they would be under Union T1 service.  The important part is we'll be able to manage those costs.  We will be minimizing the fixed costs that we would incur for services that we may or may not need, which is one of our primary concerns with the Union T1 service.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in response to TCPL interrogatory number 3, which is of Exhibit I, GEC was asked to confirm that the maximum toll for firm transportation service on Vector for contracts with a term of less than 10 years is 300 percent of the 15-year toll.
     I take it that was confirmed.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.
     MR. JANIGAN:  This is another circumstance where, once again, there may arise some uncertainty as to potential costs under the arrangements with Vector which will have to be dealt with by GEC sometime in the future, if it pursues its build option.  Would you agree with me?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think this is a -- first of all, it’s a maximum rate on a pipeline that routinely negotiates.  If I understand your question correctly, this information about Vector rates for service within Canada, whether or not they're tied to the term of service, are pieces of information that may or may not be relevant.  But because, as you said, they're tied into decisions we may or may not make down the road in terms of what service the contract is for.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Another element of cost variability is also in that interrogatory, number 4, that concerns daily imbalance penalties of $38 per gJ plus the Chicago daily index price for imbalances greater than 3 percent.  Your response indicates that 5 percent imbalance tolerance applies during normal operating conditions.  Obviously, the probability of that occurrence and the terms of magnitude, all of that is factored into the costs associated with your options.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  I mean, we have looked at that issue in our discussion with Vector Pipeline.  I would point out that the 5 percent imbalance tolerance applies to the full contract quantity, not necessarily the amount that you're shipping.  So if you're shipping only half of the quantity, you actually have a 10 percent allowance.


Pipelines do; they have very draconian penalties for people who are overtaking gas, particularly overtaking gas in situations where they have operational problems and they're in curtailment.


We have confirmed recently with Vector that in the over five years they've been operating, they have never been in a situation where they've had to put in place those particular extra penalties for imbalances in a curtailment situation.


MR. JANIGAN:  It's obviously something that you will have to have to manage in the ‑‑


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Exactly.  Exactly.  We managed for that.  I mean, that's the purpose of having an active management function available to the plan.


MR. JANIGAN:  And as I understand your pre-filed evidence, GEC's peak consumption would be about 20 percent of Vector's Chicago-Dawn end‑to‑end capacity; am I correct on that?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  If you took the maximum hourly usage of the plant and multiplied it by 24 hours and compared it to the end-to-end capacity of the Vector system, you would get something like a 20 percent number as Vector is currently configured.


We don't expect to use that much gas on really any day, but it will be something less than that, maybe closer to, you know, 120,000 to 150,000.


Also, Vector has more capacity at the eastern end of its system than it does to go end to end from Chicago.  And, also, if gas is being given to Vector at different locations, it actually has, you know, even more capacity.  In particular, I'm alluding to the fact that if other shippers are utilizing Vector to get low-cost gas that they have in Chicago because it came through the Northern Border Alliance, and give that to Dawn, our concern really is to buy gas at a Dawn index, and probably the best way to do that is to physically buy gas at Dawn, because the flow, we're almost creating capacity as opposed to using up capacity.


So I would say that your numbers are fair.  I would just say that there's -- you know, the implication that we're using up 20 percent of the Vector system is probably not ‑‑ is not accurate, in my view.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, your proposal uses a 16 pipe as opposed to Union's proposal to use a 12, and Union says the 12 is somewhat less expensive.


And it indicates that, I believe, in Union's response to CME's IR 1B -- I don't think you need to turn it up, but it indicates that Union's 12 pipeline is lower than GEC's -- the cost is lower than GEC's 16 by $875,000.   Union has stated that 12 is sufficient for the power plant.


Can you comment on those statements by Union?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I will try to take those one at a time.  I think that ‑- and please prompt me if I don't get all of the pieces of your question.


I don't think the comparison between 16-inch and 12-inch pipeline is that large.  I think there were some other interrogatories where Union was asked to say what they considered the difference in cost between, if they built 16 versus 12, and I thought it was less than that, but I don't have the exact interrogatory at my fingertips.


I think more importantly, though, we've made the decision that ‑‑ and I think this is one benefit of allowing us to take responsibility for our own facilities.  We made a commercial decision that the 16-inch diameter pipeline provides us the extra measure of supply security that we need.  We are paying that cost and we're not trying to ‑‑ you know, it will not affect anybody but us if we decide that we're going to build a 16-inch diameter pipeline as opposed to 12.


MR. JANIGAN:  But it wouldn't be your position that Union's proposal -- under Union's proposal that the plant could not operate at full load under a 12‑inch pipe?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We don't have all of the information we need to say with certainty.  I think at this point in time we don't see Union's proposal as being physically infeasible.


I mean, we would want to have more information from Union in terms of the basis for the assumed pressures, mineral pressures, at the inlet end of that pipeline to be certain that there wouldn't be any issues.  But at this point in time, I don't have any reason not to take the updated information that Union has provided on its face.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, are there any operational concerns that GEC's ‑‑ GEC has with Union's proposal to serve GEC, in terms of pressure for deliverability?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  On a physical side, we do not have ‑- we're not taking the position that Union could not physically provide the service.


MR. JANIGAN:  In terms of deliverability, you touched upon some matters previously in our discussion.  Can you elaborate further what your concerns are and how they're met by your proposal, as opposed to Union's?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I mean, in terms of deliverability, if I'm interpreting your question correctly, and -- the types of concerns that we would have if we were taking service from a utility would be to understand the physical infrastructure that they would be building and how that is going to operate, and under what circumstances we may have pressure problems, if any; be concerned with how those facilities will be used over time to be certain there won't be any erosion of that level of service.


We would certainly also want to be aware of any other factors in their -- in the way they provide service, non‑physical factors that would affect our deliverability, specifically things like curtailment programs that affect certain users, preferential access to gas that is in the system that may affect us even if we had firm service.  


I'm not raising those as particularly concerns that we have in this circumstance, but it is certainly ‑‑ those are the types of deliverability issues that we would need to be comfortable with.


MR. JANIGAN:  But currently they're hypotheticals, I take it?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  They would be ‑‑ they're hypotheticals, because we don't have a contract with Union.  To the extent they're hypotheticals.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Now, CME's interrogatory to Union, number 1(b) states that GEC's station facilities design, which costs $1.458 million less than Union's design, does not include odourization or pressure regulation facilities that Union's design includes.
     Can you confirm this and, if so, can you indicate why these facilities are unnecessary for GEC's project?  

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Can you repeat the last part of that question; slightly restate it in terms of which facilities you're saying are unnecessary?
     MR. JANIGAN:  The odourization or pressure-regulation facilities that are set out in that interrogatory.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Perhaps I better turn up the interrogatory to make sure I answer you correctly.
     MR. JANIGAN:  CME to Union, 1(b).  Obviously, this is not your interrogatory.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Okay.  I can find it.
     MR. JANIGAN:  At the top of page 1.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I turned it up.  If you give me a minute, I would like to just review it.
     Without having seen a detailed description of exactly what they're going to build, I would expect there would be some differences in assumptions that were made by the two parties when they developed their cost estimates.
     Again, we haven't been in any discussions with Union and certainly anywhere near the order of what we've been in with Vector to specifically decide who is going to build what, what it's going to look like, what various requirements the parties have.
     So, I mean, at this point, I think that we're not creating an issue that, say, Union is not doing this.  We see the two estimates as being roughly comparable.  I would say that some of the things that are -- one thing in their cost that is not in our costs would be the AFUDC, certainly    we don't factor the AFUDC.  We just present straight costs. That would be part of the difference.
     They may have assumed odourization.  I'm not sure what the cost of that was.  We're still evaluating on our side whether odourization for the gas stream going into the power plant is necessary, or not.  And in our first estimate, we did not have that extra odourization cost in, so that would explain I think the differences.       

MR. JANIGAN:  But you're not able to say, from an operational standpoint, what sort of differences those kind of expenses make, in terms of the comparison between the --
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No.  Again, not without seeing exactly side by side.  I would have to say that irrespective of who builds this interconnection, the facilities are going to be pretty much the same.  I mean, there are certain things that are needed.
     One advantage we have in the field that we have in building ourselves is we know exactly what it is.  If we feel like we should have a 16-inch pipeline as opposed to a 12-inch pipeline, that is something that is in our discretion.
     If we feel that extra gas conditioning, filter separators or whatever are needed, we can make sure those are built in.  If we feel that it is important to cut the pressure at different locations as opposed to all at one location, again, that is something that we can control and we can make sure is happening.  Finally, we feel that - certainly speaking for my engineering and construction group - it is certainly their position that they can get these things built as well and for less cost if they manage it, as opposed to turning it over to a utility.
     So I have to put that plug in for my own folks.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, your design also, as I understand it, does not include installing compression; am I correct on that?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's actually absolutely true.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  How have you taken into account the impact of the possibility that Vector's line pressure could fall below the minimum required for GEC's plan?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We have -- that is part of the reason that we're putting in a 16-inch pipeline versus a 12-inch pipeline, so that we have more cushion there in case the Vector pipeline pressure went substantially below what their operating parameters are and what their historical pressures have been.
     MR. JANIGAN:  That's not much cushion though, as I recall.  Is it something like a difference between 660 per square inch gauge to 600 per square inch gauge?  Am I correct on that?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I'm hesitating because there are a number -- there may be some different numbers in our submissions that may not all have the same inlet pressure assumptions.  But I would say that the difference between 600 and 660 is -- I believe that there was a comparison of 12 inch versus 16 inch that showed that type of difference.  To us, that's a substantial cushion, if you look at the range within which these pipelines are operating and the types of pressures that we need at the plant.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, your evidence refers to the operational flexibility of the Vector pipeline to be able to reverse the flow, if necessary.  I believe you have that in Exhibit B, page 15.
     VECC interrogatory 3, in Exhibit K, also asked about this.  Is GEC aware of any instances where the Vector flow has been reversed?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It's our understanding that the circumstances that require a physical reversal of the Vector system have not occurred historically.
     MR. JANIGAN:  I want to turn, in my last area of questioning --
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Janigan, do you know how long you will be?  The Board has another commitment at 12:15.  Would that give you sufficient time?
     MR. JANIGAN:  It might be safer to break here, Mr. Vlahos.  I don't anticipate I have a great deal, but it's difficult to know.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  I want the opportunity to ask you one question, Mr. Rosenkranz, before we break.
     My take of the morning and reading the pre-filed evidence is that the financial considerations, the self-build versus the Union Gas, was a pretty important consideration in your view.  And also the operational flexibility was, sort of, yes, that's an aside.  That's the way I read the evidence.
     I think, however, over the course of this morning I've -- in fact, there was testimony to the effect that less profitability was not what was considered when you struck the contract with the government.  It seems now that your $6 million to $8 million difference, you have said this is not absolute difference.  That the difference may be -- I'm not sure whether you said there is no difference, but we don't need to get into this.
     The reason I'm asking is because I'm not sure I want the parties, with some clarification, how much time they want to spend on this in cross-examination, what is the financial difference if from your perspective it's not a key consideration for the self-build proposal?  

Do you understand my question?  It's a long one.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I believe I understand your question, and I certainly didn't mean to say that financial differences between the options weren't important.
     What I was trying to do is encourage people to look at things from our perspective of the broader range of costs that we look at in the gas supply, and not just focus on that $6 to $8 million of that particular relatively simplistic comparison that was made in the submission, which was intended to give people a feeling that, yes, there is a difference here.  There is a difference in the services, and there certainly is a difference not just in the absolute level of the costs between the alternatives, but how those costs are weighted.


Again, that is part of the reason, in the submission, we didn't show just total cost.  We tried to emphasize the fixed costs' burden that we saw of the T1 service.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right, sir.  Thank you very much for that.  

Mr. Janigan, I'm going to put you down for what, 10, 15 minutes after we come back?


MR. JANIGAN:  Pardon me?


MR. VLAHOS:  How much time do you need?


MR. JANIGAN:  I estimate I will be 15 or 20 minutes when we get back.


MR. VLAHOS:  I may just want to canvas the parties as to how long they forecast to take with this panel.


Mr. Manning?


MR. MANNING:  Half an hour, three-quarters of an hour, Mr. Chair.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Lokan?


MR. LOKAN:  No questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  No questions?  Mr. Dingwall?


MR. DINGWALL:  Fifteen minutes to half an hour.


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Land?


MS. NEWLAND:  Half an hour to three-quarters, sir.


MS. LEA:  Ms. Land is absent for the moment.  That was Ms. Newland.  


MS. NEWLAND:  Oh, I thought you said Newland.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry.  Mr. Cameron?


MR. CAMERON:  Did we get an estimate from ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Newland.  Ms. Land is not here.


MR. CAMERON:  I see, okay.  I would say an hour to two hours.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Ross?


MR. ROSS:  No questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Just a moment, please.


[The Board confers]


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, what will we do, then, based on that estimate, then we will have the Walpole evidence -- Walpole Island evidence first thing tomorrow morning.  Ms. Land is not here, but you may want to talk to her over the lunch break.


It doesn't appear we're going to finish today, obviously, with this panel, so it will have to be done tomorrow, but we also want to make sure that Walpole Island is accommodated, in terms of its constraints.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  It might be useful, in advance of me talking to Ms. Land, if perhaps you could canvas everybody with respect to how much cross‑examination they might have of Walpole Island's panel.


MR. VLAHOS:  Can you do that for us?


MR. MORAN:  I can do it, of course, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  There are 100 people here.  Okay, with that, then we will return in an hour. 


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:15 p.m.

     --- On resuming at 1:25 p.m.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  Before we return to Mr. Janigan, Mr. Moran, anything to report from your conversation with counsel?
     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, the conversation I had with other parties was that we were pretty confident that this panel would be finished probably by lunch time tomorrow and Walpole Island would probably take about an hour in 

cross-exam.  So I think, on that basis, the schedule looks okay.  I didn't get a hold of Ms. Land.  She was here earlier this morning, but -- and I couldn’t track her down by phone either.
     MS. LEA:  I know Ms. Land does have some examination in-chief for these witnesses. 

MR. VLAHOS:  I was wondering how long she planned to be with direct.
     MS. LEA:  My estimate for her examination in-chief is about half an hour, just based on what I chatted to her about earlier this morning.
     MR. MORAN:  Based on what I read in the pre-filed, that would be my estimate.
     MR. VLAHOS:  It would be good if we can finish this panel uninterrupted so why don't we work on the basis then we will continue with this panel tomorrow, but should it not be possible to finish by lunch, then we'll just have to -- not by lunch but early morning, we will have a better idea and then we can be guided from that point on.  Okay.
     MS. LEA:  I have one preliminary matter, sir.
     PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MS. LEA:  I have a copy of a Federal Court of Appeal decision, which may be relevant to one of the issues relating to cumulative impacts in this case.
     I think Mr. Moran is aware of it, and I presume others are as well.  It's SUMAS Energy 2 Inc., I think that is probably the title, and the National Energy Board and others, and it is the recent decision of the Federal Court upholding the National Energy Board's decision to include in its consideration of an electricity transmission line the affects -- the environmental affects on the air shed of the pollution caused by the power plant to which it was attached.  So I just wanted to let you know that I have that, and therefore the Board panel may see it.  If you want a copy I can provide it.  It's available.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  

Mr. Janigan.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. JANIGAN [continued]:
     MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Rosenkranz, I was reviewing the exchange that you had with Ms. Lea this morning on the subject of the public interest or the public policy considerations behind GEC's application.  And I noted a couple of answers that you gave to Ms. Lea.
     I'm going to read them to you and ask a question based on those answers.
     You indicated:  

“I think what we need is choice.  We really need the ability to operate in a market that is operating efficiently but doesn't have artificial barriers and allows us to make the best choices based on the full range of opportunities.”
     Further on:   

“We're looking more at the nature of the load of making sure that large end-users who are capable of managing their business essentially coming back to the use of the word at the wholesale level, are not required to pay the extra costs and take the extra services of being a retail customer.” 

I'm going to ask you, effectively what you were saying is:   When a customer comes forward and says "we can do this, we can manage this pipeline,” that any large user - not necessarily exclusive to Greenfield - in similar circumstances shouldn't have to be served by a distribution line operated by the local distribution utility.
     Is that effectively what you're telling the Board?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I would just be careful, in answering that statement, I'm not sure that you distinguished between existing customers and new customers.  I think I did note in responses to some other questions that we do recognize that there are different public interests or public policy considerations in those cases, particularly if there have been specific facilities constructed for consumers and then they decide:  No, I don't want to take the service and be responsible for those costs any more.
     But in terms of new loads, if there's not -- they're not impacts on existing customers, as we believe is the case here, what would apply to a generator should apply to another type of end user, I would agree with that.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Any large end-user who can manage that pipeline should be allowed the option to connect either to the transmission line or to the distribution line, operated by the local distribution utility?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  With the caveats that I -- in my previous …
     MR. JANIGAN:  If there is no service available?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  If there is no other service that's previously been provided or no other overriding public policy concerns, yes, I think that is a principle that we would expect to support.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, in dealing with the overriding public policy concerns, those were primarily concerns about stranded assets; is that what you're saying?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Stranded assets or duplication of facilities.  I mean there are concerns about uneconomic bypass, in the context of other problems in the way that the utility service is being priced, even though it is economic to serve that new load, they can't do that for some rate design reason.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, in its evidence, Union raises the concern that should GEC's application be approved, some 19 existing customers of Union may seek to bypass Union with potential adverse impact on Union's remaining customers of 29 million.
     Does this circumstance fall within your caveat that, in fact, where there's been existing service, that there are other concerns at play?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  My understanding is that –- again, this is Union's evidence.  I believe they're talking about existing consumers, not new customers.  I believe they also put in some additional response to other interrogatories where they stated that while the impact would probably not be so large because these consumers would not go away, you know, there would probably be opportunities to negotiate with them.
     But I believe that, by and large, those types of customers would be - again, without knowing the exact circumstances, terms of contracts, what facilities are supporting those customers or whatever - would probably be a different set of circumstances than are presented by this case.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, if GEC's application is approved, and given your view of the advantages of owning your own pipeline, would this confer an unfair advantage in relation to existing generators already taking service from Union?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I'm not sure what circumstances and what opportunities and what negotiations those other generators have been able to enter into.
     Certainly, I don't see the situation of existing generators being a reason not to deal with this case under the circumstances of this case.  I would be more concerned with forward-looking regulation to make sure that future participants have the same -- are operating on a level playing field.
     MR. JANIGAN:  Presumably, because you believe that you have an advantage with your own pipeline and your own build, that advantage would be something that you would have over existing generators who have already hooked up to Union?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Again, I'm not sure that you can make that statement in such a stark manner.  There are a lot of things that would be different, in terms of the circumstances of those existing generators, relative to our situation.
     Certainly there would be differences in terms of the way they sell their power.  The contract arrangements that they have that are different from our contract arrangements.  I would say the important thing is the circumstances under which we entered this -- the power market with the ‑‑ the CESC, that clearly gave us a strong directive and incentive, irrespective of what might have gone before affected other generators, to come in with a price, a cost for ‑‑ under our arrangement with the OPA that kept all of our costs as low as possible, and certainly we bid on that basis, without any reference to the costs that other generators may or may not have.


MR. JANIGAN:  So if one was to employ the floodgates' argument here, the floodgates, as it were, would only apply to new customers, in your view, not to existing customers?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think that certainly we're concerned with the circumstances of our case, and I'm not here to necessarily address broad policy concerns, although we certainly have been invited to comment on them.


Again, I don't see this floodgate's concern being as big of an issue.  As I said this morning, it's our understanding that the basic principle of parties being able to make applications to build these types of pipelines has been in existence for quite some time, so we don't really see we're opening a gate.  It's a gate that has been there that we're walking through.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, presumably the effect of your application is that you would not be paying any costs towards the distribution network serving other retail customers in Union's area.  You would agree with that?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  As not ‑‑ as ‑‑ since we would not be a customer of Union, we would not be paying rates that would then be factored into the rate design of other users.  However, I would point out that if we built our own pipeline and we're operating at that location, we would still be a potential ex-franchise of Union Gas, and other customers of Union Gas would presumably be able to benefit from margins on sales that ‑‑ of services that Union would be able to make to us on an ex‑franchise basis on market base rates and essentially have benefits without the costs of building the facilities, which would be on us.


MR. JANIGAN:  That's potential, of course.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Certainly, it's potential.  I mean, this is all potential, because we haven't reached the situation where we can build this power plant.


MR. JANIGAN:  Aren't you getting an unearned benefit from connecting to a pipeline that wouldn't have existed but for all of the retail customers on the Union system?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I mean, that's a difficult statement.  You're getting a little too philosophical, I'm afraid, for my mind.  I mean, I could go back and -- as someone who has purchased capacity on TransCanada and other pipelines to take gas from Alberta to the New England states, I would say a lot of those pipelines -- that people in Ontario take advantage of a lot of pipeline capacity that we paid for.  So I'm not sure exactly if I would want to go there.


MR. JANIGAN:  That may be more a question for argument, in any event.  I have one more hypothetical, a law school exam-type question for you.


In Ontario there are areas where there is a border between Enbridge and Union's franchise areas, and, similarly, between Union and NRG's franchise areas which are divided by a border.


In a hypothetical situation, suppose someone is putting a plant in NRG's franchise area that is close to Union's franchise area.  Should our hypothetical plant be able to bypass NRG to connect to Union's system, if it's cheaper to connect than it is to connect to NRG?


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Janigan, I hope the witnesses are aware of NRG, the background, size, et cetera.


MR. JANIGAN:  It's a very small local distribution company.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I mean, you put that in terms of a "should" and as a hypothetical.  If it is of any use, I would just share with you that I was personally involved with a similar situation in the State of Ohio where we have a ‑‑ where we've been developing a power plant that is technically in the franchise area of Columbia of Ohio.  However, the plant is closer to a high pressure pipeline that runs across the northern part of Ohio that is operated by East Ohio Gas.


In that case, we were able to ‑‑ we connected to East Ohio Gas, even though we were outside their franchise territory, as generally recognized, because they had, by far, the better gas infrastructure in the area.


Now, I'm not sure what that is worth, because the rules on franchises and what that means is different by different circumstances, but, again, for what it's worth, say that your hypothetical is not far‑fetched and is something that, you know, in our view, when that case came up, there was a reasonable way of dealing with that that seemed to be acceptable to everyone, including the Ohio PUC.


MR. JANIGAN:  Would you say in that case that the economic self‑interest of the plant should be the prevailing factor that influences whether or not they're able to connect?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I believe it was certainly the lowest-cost alternative for the plant, but it was also, in my view, an outcome that was consistent with a rational expansion of the pipeline infrastructure, as opposed to building pipes that wasn't needed, to be able to come up with an alternative that took advantage of the pipeline that was there, without putting up artificial restrictions having to do with franchise areas, or whatever.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, panel.  Mr. Chair, those are all my questions, and this will also conclude my questioning for panels in this proceeding.


My friend, Mr. Warren, has agreed to reciprocate in terms of taking the lead in the cross‑examination of particularly the Union panel that will occur later in the proceeding, and I will be returning, presuming there is oral argument, next week to present our position on this matter.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Can you tell us whether Mr. De Rose plans to appear or not, because you entered an appearance for him?


MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. De Rose's appearance was precautionary in nature.  As I recall from my telephone message, that they had not decided whether or not they would participate either in the form of attending at the oral hearing or presenting argument, but wished me to put in an appearance as a precaution.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.  Mr. Manning?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MANNING:

MR. MANNING:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I'm hoping to keep this relatively brief and briefer than the half hour, three-quarters of an hour I estimated, because a lot has already been covered in the cross‑examinations that have taken place.


I would just like, firstly, to start with some evidence that was given in cross‑examination by Mr. Rosenkranz concerning public benefit, public interest and his interpretation of that, just a little point of clarification.


Mr. Rosenkranz, I heard you say, I think, that your first and primary point was that public interest is a matter which is for the decision of the Board in accordance with the statutory requirements; is that correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's certainly true, correct.


MR. MANNING:  So to follow with a hypothetical, if there were government policy in place at the moment, for example, which said that where there is a franchise like Union that a company such as the GEC would always have to connect to it and that were a policy, you would say, Well, ultimately that's not determinative of the public interest.  That is still a question for the Board.  Would that be a correct understanding of the way that you see that?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  You're posing a question to me that sounds like it is more of a legal interpretation as opposed to something related to gas supply.  But I would say that if it's a policy of a board or regulatory body, I believe can be modified or overturned by that body if there's a change in outlook and a different view on what's the overriding public interest, if that's answering your question.
     MR. MANNING:  I've not entirely understood the answer.  Maybe it's my fault for not making it clear enough.  I'm certainly not asking you to make a legal interpretation, but just to understand your own understanding of it.
     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, I think the question is asking what the interplay is between government policy and the Board's statutory authority, and I think the witness has clearly said that he doesn't really think he can comment on it.  It's a legal question, and I would -- I would agree.
     MR. VLAHOS:  We may have heard different things.  Mr. Manning, I heard a different question, and perhaps -- well, let me paraphrase what I heard.  That if there was a government policy that any new development should be always connected with the existing rate of the utility, then does this Board have the authority to do something different.  That's what I heard the question.  Maybe you misspoke.  

MR. MANNING:  No, that's correct, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  That is what I heard.
     MR. MORAN:  That's the question I heard, Mr. Chair, which, as I say, is asking for the interplay between government policy and the Board's statutory jurisdiction and I can't imagine this witness could possibly comment on such a question.
     MR. VLAHOS:  That's fair.  I think the witness probably heard it differently.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I did interpret it differently.
     MR. VLAHOS:  That's what I thought.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  If I heard it the way you heard it, I would not have even ventured an answer.
     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.
     MR. MANNING:  So the answer is no answer?  Is that ...
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.
     MR. MANNING:  All right.  In that case, I will move on to the question of pricing; again, a request for clarification.
     We heard a lot about the comparative benefits and disbenefits of whether you connect yourselves or you connect to Union Gas.  And we heard a lot about the ability to purchase at the Dawn index, and concern about the carrying costs you would have to pay.  I'm not really going to go into the differential, because that's the thing that other people have been discussing.
     What I do want to understand is how the gas market prices translate ultimately into electricity prices, particularly under your contract pursuant to the RFP.
     Is it the case that, to put it very crudely, higher gas prices mean higher electricity prices?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think there was some discussion on this earlier.  First of all, we are going to be bidding into the market and the market will clear us some price, depending on what resources are on the margin, to the extent that for those periods when gas power plants of similar efficiency would be on the margin, certainly then the higher gas prices would lead to higher electricity prices.
     Again, that is not an issue of our particular power plant.  It is an issue of the functioning of the electric market that's been set up.
     MR. MANNING:  Thank you for that.  Just -- indeed you did touch on that very subject earlier.  There is no muting of the transference of gas price through to the electricity price under the RFP itself.  You're not limited to prices for periods of time?
     MR. WENDELGASS:  Just to be clear.  The CES contract between Greenfield and the Ontario Power Authority is a contract for us to provide capacity into the market.
     We don't realize revenues under the CES contract for the energy we generate.  We're only receiving a capacity payment for the -- essentially the capital costs and fixed operating costs.
     The market itself, the IESO-operated market is what compensates Greenfield for its costs of operating when it is called to operate in an economic dispatch scenario.  And obviously, that economic dispatch is made up of a stack of generating resources with probably nuclear at the base of that stack, followed by hydroelectric, followed by any coal that may be in the system, followed by any gas, oil or other resources, and then also layering in today, beginning with, as we see renewable resources come on, winds resources, for example, those resources.
     I mean, there is a -- but generally, to say that electricity prices are not going to rise and fall directly correlated with natural gas prices.  They are a blend of the costs of all of those various generating sources.
     MR. MANNING:  But insofar as gas-burning technology is the source of electricity, the price of gas would feed into that mix.
     MR. WENDELGASS:  Absolutely, sure.
     MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  We heard quite a bit about what a large consumer GEC would be of gas, and I think that was partly, in large part, in support of your argument that you should be able to deal with your supply of gas independently from more retail-type clients.  I'm going to ask further questions about that, but I was interested to know precisely how large a consumer you will be.
     Is it right that you will be the biggest gas-burning generating station in Ontario, if and when the GEC is built?
     MR. WENDELGASS:  We're not certain that, in terms of instantaneous gas use, that when you consider megawatts plus efficiency, that the Lennox plant might not actually be larger than -- potentially a larger user of gas than the GEC plant would be.  Certainly we would be large.  We're just struggling with being certain it would be the largest, if you consider, again, the potential usage of all other plants that are out there.
     MR. MANNING:  That's helpful, and certainly I'm not looking at the Guinness Book of Records seeing if you're champion.  So one of the two largest would be more or less correct.
     And do you have any idea, if you're called upon to supply electricity throughout the year under your contract with the government, do you have any idea what volume of gas that will involve on an annual basis?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, we did put some indicative numbers in our evidence, based on 40 percent and 70 percent load factors.  If I can pull that up and direct you to 

that --
     MR. MANNING:  I recall you had that.  If you could refer me to that, that would be helpful.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It would be on page -- Exhibit B, page 16, at the top of the page it discusses total gas use.
     MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  Thank you.  That's just a factual thing I wanted to identify.
     Again, just to get some kind of idea of the range of things here.  If you were to have to purchase that gas requirement through Union Gas, do you know what percentage this may be for Union Gas themselves, what percentage of their ‑- how big a customer you would be?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We haven't ‑‑ that's a calculation that we haven't made.  I know that there was another interrogatory and they did confirm that we would be the largest T1 customer.  I presume that would be the largest customer, but I didn't calculate it, in terms of percentage of ‑‑


MR. MANNING:  Indeed it's a thing that we could ask maybe Union Gas to confirm.  Okay, I think that is everything for me.  I was just interested to identify a series of facts and clarifications.  I thank you very much.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Manning.  Mr. Lokan, you have no questions.  Mr. Dingwall?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Brian Dingwall.  I'm here for the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  


Very quickly, I understood, Mr. Rosenkranz, from your statements this morning that GEC is not looking for a preferential rate; is that correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  I think you mentioned this morning that you got some awareness of some of the regulatory processes that are currently under way in Ontario, one of which is the electricity and natural gas interface.


If your project were delayed by a year, would it still go ahead?


MR. WENDELGASS:  I'm not ‑‑ I'd have to go back and look at the CES contract as to when the OPA's ability to terminate our contract would step in.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Do you have any ‑‑


MR. WENDELGASS:  At some point, the CES contract sets a drop-dead date.  If we haven't achieved commercial operation by that drop-dead date, the OPA has the ability to terminate the contract.  I would also think that the ‑‑ I would have to check the CES contract to determine ‑-


MR. DINGWALL:  Can you give me a ballpark date at this point?


MR. WENDELGASS:  It's a year or it's 18 months.


MR. DINGWALL:  A year to 18 months?


MR. WENDELGASS:  A year to 18 months' delay, and they can terminate the contract, in which case the project would not happen.


MR. DINGWALL:  I beg your pardon?


MR. WENDELGASS:  In which case obviously the project would not happen.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Now, I understand from reading some of the interrogatories and responses that your discussions with Union Gas became subject to a confidentiality agreement.  Does that agreement prevent you from giving us an indication of what factors were concerns on their side and what factors were concerns on your side?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We'll have to see.  We certainly are concerned that we not violate that agreement, and I would have difficulty saying what their concerns are, but I think that we put things in evidence here already in terms of what types of factors that we considered.  So I'm sure we could probably comment on some things related to Union.


MR. DINGWALL:  I believe this morning, in terms of factors, you expressed a general concern with the structure of the T1 contract, and with the compressor fuel element of the T1 contract.  I'm not going to ask you to go beyond there.  I realize that confidentiality agreements are pains in the regulatory process sometimes.


Was it you that asked for the confidentiality agreement, or was it Union Gas?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I know that recently, generally ‑‑ I believe it was us, and then -- the particular reason is that we -- particularly, we were in a competitive bid situation.  That type of information about siting in terms of service is very much a concern to us.  But it is a bilateral agreement that covers non‑public information on both sides.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay, those are my questions.  Thank you very much.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Ms. Land, You weren't in the room so I didn't know whether you have any questions.


MS. LAND:  No questions for this panel.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right, thank you.  Ms. Newland?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. NEWLAND:

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  I would like to start with a few questions that arise from the discussion you had this morning with Ms. Lea, and then later on with Mr. Janigan, just by way of clarification, really.


You testified, I believe it was Mr. Rosenkranz, that concerns had recently come to GEC's attention regarding GEC's ability to access FT on Vector.


As I understood your testimony, there were two possible concerns, and I say "possible" because I'm not sure I exactly understood your testimony.  The first concern I understood you to state was that somehow Union would have to be involved in some way at Dawn to facilitate the arrangements whereby GEC would receive service at its meter, by way of an exchange, using FT transportation on Vector.


Did I understand you correctly in that regard?  And I guess the second part of that is:  And that arrangement between Union and Vector hasn't been put in place yet, or there is no arrangement yet?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The concern ‑‑ you're hitting on the area of concern, which has really come out of interventions and -- the intervention and the responses to interrogatories by Union Gas in this proceeding.


In our discussions with Vector Pipeline, it has been our understanding and continues to be our understanding that there are no physical issues that would prevent a party to deliver gas from the Dawn hub into the Vector pipeline system physically for transportation to a point further west, particularly in Canada, again, getting to this issue of:  Can gas be delivered from Dawn to more westerly points on Union Gas ‑‑ excuse me, on Vector - there I go again - without that being done by displacement?


So our understanding from Vector is that is a physical bi-directional meter and that that can be done by physical delivery.  It's in this proceeding that Union Gas has raised issues about that.  That is something where we are relying upon Vector Pipeline, as the provider of that service, to be able to do that, what they say they can do.


MS. NEWLAND:  That's helpful, sir.  Obviously that is an issue that will have to get sorted out before GEC can commit to capacity on Vector; that's fair?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Certainly we would need to clarify that before we paid a reservation charge for firm back haul or firm delivery from Dawn to a point, if we weren't really sure that there weren't impediments to doing that, correct.


Again, I want to take pains to state that even if that were true, we do not feel that that would prevent us from getting gas to the plant.  It would make it more difficult for us to take advantage of one of several options under certain potential conditions.


MS. NEWLAND:  Just to follow up on that last comment of yours, if it turns out that that particular option is not available, then that -- as I understand it, that means your FT option on Vector is not available?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No.  It means that the FT from Dawn option would be less of an option.  We would then have to look to a forward-haul scenario.


MS. NEWLAND:  Forward haul from Chicago or points upstream?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Points upstream.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Which would presumably be more expensive than FT from Dawn?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That may or may not be more expensive depending on how we would have to contract for, again, what the availability is, whether we could contract from just a point over the border coming forward or from the border point.  Certainly anything that takes an option off the table is not going to reduce your costs; it's going to increase your costs.  I will agree, you can pin me down that far.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, sir.  The second concern, as I heard your testimony was that, again, this came to light I think through the IR process, that there may not always be enough gas flowing past GEC's meter to meet its demand on exchange basis.
     And I believe the evidence was that there were 43 days since Vector commenced operation in which that would have, in fact, been the case; is that correct?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  In my view, that's just a restatement of the same issue.  Again, if there's not gas flowing from west to east, we can't do the displacement from Dawn to our plant by dropping gas off.  So it really is the same concerns, stated in a different way.
     MS. NEWLAND:  It's slightly -- there's a slightly different nuance, as I understood it, perhaps I'm incorrect.  I thought the first issue had to do with bi-directional meters, whether there was one or wasn't one.  I thought that was kind of a facilities issue.
     The second issue I'm raising is the volumes.  The way I look at it is Enbridge has a contract coming past your meter, but on any particular day there may or may not be enough gas coming by your meter to effect an exchange.  
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Right.  But to my mind, it is the same issue.  Because as long as there is enough gas going past our meter that we can pull off the pipeline or Vector would deliver to us and then have it replaced at Dawn, then any concern about being able to physically put the gas into Vector at Dawn goes away.  So it's the same --
     MS. NEWLAND:  I understand the point.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Physically, we're talking about two different things, but it's the same issue in my mind.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  You had a discussion with Mr. Janigan about the possibility of utilizing Vector transportation under a flow reversal scenario.
     Enbridge understands that the only time that this scenario would occur would be in the event of an upstream
-- some sort of an upstream curtailment or event that prevented Vector from delivering its contracted volumes, either in whole or in part at Dawn.  Is that your understanding as well?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Again, I think we're talking about the same issue again.  It could be because of some physical activity upstream that less gas was flowing through that segment of the Vector system, or it could be, for economic reasons, that just the relative price at Dawn compared to Chicago or Michigan is not high enough to draw the gas into Dawn.
     You may have issues where there is a lot of gas going into Michigan storage, for example.  So it can happen for two reasons.  But again, I think we're coming back to the same issue.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Well, this question may actually demonstrate my ignorance on this matter, but I had thought we were talking about a physical reversal.  So how could you have gas going one way and gas going the other way at the same time?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It's contractually.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Right.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Physically --
     MS. NEWLAND:  I'm talking about a physical reversal, which I think you referred to in your evidence at some point at least of being a theoretical possibility.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Again, our understanding is a physical possibility as well.
     So, yes, a physical reversal of that end of the Vector system could occur if there's some constraint upstream that's somehow affecting the flow.  I think that is the issue raised.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Yes.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  But again, it could occur for other reasons, but it all gets into that issue of:  If there's not enough gas making it to Dawn, that we can take the gas off the system and do a displacement deal, then you need a physical reversal flow, but it can be for a number of different reasons.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, sir.
     Now, your evidence also refers to Vector's hourly transportation service as one possibility that GEC is looking at, in terms of the mix of services, transportation services you might consider in the future.  And I understand your testimony that nothing is, you know, is concluded at this point.  But as I understand your evidence, that service, this hourly service allows a shipper to transport gas on Vector over a period of hours, that's shorter than the standard gas day, and you're able to also nominate up to one hour before delivery; correct?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, that sounds correct.
     MS. NEWLAND:  So for a power plant such as yours, this would be a potentially attractive service given the volatility of your gas needs at the plant.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  And that's the --
     MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  I also understand the evidence that the toll for this service is, in effect, a 24-hour reservation charge, the effect of the structure of this toll is that it is a 24-hour reservation charge.  Is that your understanding as well?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The maximum toll for the service is based on the fact that even though you're using that physical capacity for only a certain number of hours a day, it is available to you on any hour.  So essentially you're paying for that hourly rate of capacity -- of transport on the 24-hour basis.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  But again, Vector is a very active negotiator of services.  So we would be operating within that range.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Union's evidence suggests that that service has never been utilized by any of Vector's existing shippers, including its existing power plant shippers.  Is that your understanding, that no one has really any experience with how this particular service would operate in practice?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Vector is a relatively new pipeline.  It has a little over five years of experience, and I'm not sure that this hourly service was on the books when it first went in service.  I believe it was something that came in later.  So I'm not sure how many years that it's been in use.  But, yes, I do -- first of all, I will agree with you that we have confirmed with Vector that they have not provided service under this rate schedule, but it is available.
     MS. NEWLAND:  And Union's evidence - and I can give you a reference if you need it-- but its evidence is that this particular service is not actually available on a back-haul basis from Dawn due to its hourly nomination conditions.
     Is that your understanding as well, sir?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  My understanding is that the service, as far as Vector is concerned, is available at Dawn.
     Any constraint -- I'm not sure exactly what Union is talking about, but any inability to use that service to source gas at Dawn would have to do with the operation of the Dawn hub, that you couldn't get service from the operator of the Dawn hub to deliver gas on those specific hours into the Vector pipeline.
     It's not an issue of the Vector pipeline system.  If they can link up with the hub and the hub is giving them the gas at those hours, they can provide that service.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  So the problem is not on the Vector system.  It is something else.
     MS. NEWLAND:  But in any event, it sounds like this problem needs to get sorted out before it's a service that you can take.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I agree that there are issues about the operation of the Dawn hub that are very important to the future operation of power generators that need this type of flexibility, and it's something that the operation of the hub affects other operators such as Vector, of being able to meet those needs, because there's no -- there is nothing to link up to at the hub.
     Again, that is a concern.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Is there a process that you're aware of in place right now and ongoing right now to affect a resolution of these issues that we've been talking about?  I'm referring both to the FT issue and to the issue we've just been talking about, back -- about hourly service.  Are parties working towards a resolution?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I'm not aware of the specific process that is focussing on those issues right now.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  You might have heard me flipping my pages.  Ms. Lea managed to cut out a lot of my questions, you will be glad to hear.


I would like to talk now about your CES contract briefly.  I would like to keep our discussion at a fairly high level, probably more for my sake than your sake.


The payments by or to GEC under that particular contract are a function, as I understand it, of the difference between GEC's total monthly net revenue requirement, which is a fixed forecast amount; correct?  It is the amount you built into your bid?


MR. WENDELGASS:  That's ‑‑ the NRR is an amount we bid, yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  And so the difference between that amount, on the one hand, and NEC or GEC's imputed net revenue on the other hand; correct?  The difference between those two amounts determines the payment ‑‑


MR. WENDELGASS:  The contingent support payment from the OPA to GEC.


MS. NEWLAND:  And the imputed net revenue amount is, in turn, a ‑‑ I'm going to keep this at a high level.


MR. WENDELGASS:  That's fine.


MS. NEWLAND:  If you could turn to ‑‑


MR. WENDELGASS:  Exhibit J, yes, that's it.  Go ahead.  I'm sorry.  


MS. NEWLAND:  You will notice I haven't actually turned it up.  So the imputed net revenue is, in turn, a function of two factors, the deemed production rate, how many hours you're deemed to run in a month; correct?


MR. WENDELGASS:  That's correct.


MS. NEWLAND:  And the difference between the price that GEC will receive for its electricity, the hourly Ontario energy price, the HOEP on the one hand, and your imputed variable energy costs on the other hand, it's that margin; correct?


MR. WENDELGASS:  Essentially, that's correct, yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  And your imputed variable energy cost is the sum of start‑up costs, O&M costs, day-ahead price at Dawn, multiplied by your rate, those three factors; correct?


MR. WENDELGASS:  Let's go through this again.  Start‑up costs?


MS. NEWLAND:  Start‑up costs, O&M.


MR. WENDELGASS:  Variable O&M.


MS. NEWLAND:  Variable O&M, okay, and day-ahead price of gas at Dawn?


MR. WENDELGASS:  Price of gas at Dawn --


MS. NEWLAND:  Times your rate.


MR. WENDELGASS:  -- multiplied by our contractual rate.  


MS. NEWLAND:  What are the components in your variable O&M?  Actually, let me tell you the question I'm really asking.  We just wanted to confirm where your fuel delivery costs - your fuel delivery costs, not your commodity costs - are embedded in the net revenue requirement.


MR. WENDELGASS:  The fuel delivery costs are, in part, in the variable O&M, and, in part, in the net revenue requirement.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  So in any month, if your start‑up costs, your O&M costs, your variable O&M costs are identical to the costs included in your forecast net revenue, and if your commodity costs are no higher than the day-ahead price at Dawn, we understand that you will recover or exceed your net revenue requirement, depending on your actual dispatch; is that correct?


MR. WENDELGASS:  Try that again, please.


MS. NEWLAND:  So if you were absolutely dead on in terms of your start‑up costs are no more than what you ‑‑ than they were in your bid, your O&M costs, your variable O&M costs are no more than what you included in your bid, or maybe ‑‑ I should maybe ‑‑ sorry, let me start again.  


Your start‑up costs and O&M costs, I don't want to differentiate between variable and fixed components of those.  If both those costs are identical to the costs that you included in your bid, and if your commodity costs are no higher than the day‑ahead price at Dawn, then you will recover or exceed your net revenue requirement, depending on how you're dispatched?


MR. WENDELGASS:  I'm not clear.  Let me back into it from another direction and see if I can explain it from the perspective I've looked at it.  The net revenue requirement is a value that, in the absence of any dispatch in a given month, we would be paid under the CES contract.


We would get no variable O&M and we would get no fuel.  We would simply get paid the net revenue requirement.


MS. NEWLAND:  Can you just repeat that?


MR. WENDELGASS:  To the extent, if Greenfield were not dispatched in a given month --


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes.


MR. WENDELGASS:  Let's take April, which tends to be a month when gas‑fired power plants don't run.  It would receive no variable O&M payments.  It would receive no start‑up fuel.  It would simply receive its net revenue requirement.


In a month where Greenfield were to run or were imputed to run - and know that there is a difference, because the imputation assumes 100 percent availability, which is not our experience with any gas‑fired generating facility - but to the extent that Greenfield is imputed to run, it receives start‑up revenues for the first start of the day, only the first start.  It receives variable O&M payments for imputed megawatt hours delivered, and its revenue received from the energy market, net revenue received from the energy market ‑‑ well, let's take it ‑‑ the overall revenue received from the energy market, less its costs, the day-ahead cost of gas at Dawn, multiplied by our plant heat rate, the total revenue imputed to have been received from the energy market, less fuel, the net of that is then subtracted from the plant's NRR.


And to the extent that there is a difference in our favour, we're paid the difference.  To the extent that there is a difference -- when I say a difference in our favour, to the extent we haven't achieved our NRR, we're paid that difference.  To the extent that there is a difference where we exceed our NRR, we get 5 percent of the increment and the Ontario Power Authority captures the other 95 percent.


MS. NEWLAND:  I think my confusion was I had assumed that the O&M costs were embedded in the net revenue requirement, but it sounds like they are not.


MR. WENDELGASS:  The variable O&M costs and ‑‑ are not embedded in the NRR.


There are certain fixed O&M costs, such as the costs of staffing a plant and certain other contractual costs that you incur for essentially permit, which are embedded in the NRR, but variable O&M costs, the costs of chemicals, the costs of fuel delivery services, that are variable that vary with the amount of fuel delivered, the costs of certain other types of ammonia, for example, for use in RCR, those costs are in the variable O&M costs.


MS. NEWLAND:  So the variable fuel transportation costs are reflected in the O&M?


MR. WENDELGASS:  That's correct.


MS. NEWLAND:  The fixed transportation component is reflected in the net revenue requirement?


MR. WENDELGASS:  Those variable and fixed transportation costs that we believed we would incur at the time we made our bid.


MS. NEWLAND:  And you recover your net revenue requirement and all of those costs embedded in it, even if you're not dispatched?


MR. WENDELGASS:  That's correct.  It's essentially a capacity payment for being there.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, I think I understand.  Thank you, sir.


If GEC's actual total revenues in any month ‑‑ let me start again.  GEC's actual total revenues in any month could be lower than its deemed revenues under the contract in two circumstances, as I understand it.  One, where your actual gas purchase price is different from the day-ahead Dawn price, such that your actual dispatch is different than your deemed dispatch; correct?


MR. WENDELGASS:  Yes.  I would say that there are multiple scenarios.  That is one of the scenarios.


MS. NEWLAND:  The other one is where your actual cost of operating is different than your deemed costs under your CES contract.

MR. WENDELGASS:  Our actual ... 

     MS. NEWLAND:  I'm actually quoting from your evidence here, so I'm hoping you say "yes".


MR. WENDELGASS:  I'm thinking about that.  Yes, it would be that our actual operating costs would cause a change in the dispatch.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  And in either case, the difference between your actual revenues and your deemed revenues will result in payments under your CES contract that will cause your investment -- that will cause your return on investment to be different than the returns that you factored into your bid.
     MR. WENDELGASS:  That's correct.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Correct?  So GEC bears the commodity cost risks and the operating costs risk under the CES contract.
     MR. WENDELGASS:  That's correct.
     MS. NEWLAND:  And part of this operating cost risk is the risk that the Board may not approve your application for the GEC pipeline, in which case you would lose whatever savings GEC assumed in its bid in relation to its fuel delivery costs, correct, relative to the Union option?
     MR. WENDELGASS:  If we do not achieve the cost structure that underlies our bid in the CES procurement, our returns will be different from the returns that we anticipated when we made that bid.  That's correct.
     MS. NEWLAND:  So it goes right to your bottom line?
     MR. WENDELGASS:  Yes.
     MS. NEWLAND:  I would like to leave the CES contract and talk about the commodity risk and fuel delivery cost risk.  These are the two risks that we have identified.
     Were the fuel delivery costs that you assumed for the purpose of your bid, the variable and fixed components, identical to the costs set out in table 2 of your application of Exhibit B?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Table 2, Exhibit B.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Go to page 22 of your evidence, sir, of Exhibit B.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The answer to that question is that the costs that we used in our bidding are not the costs that are shown in table 2 of Exhibit B.
     MS. NEWLAND:  And I presume you wouldn't be willing to disclose what the costs assumed in the bid are, because those would be commercially sensitive?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's a correct assumption.
     MS. NEWLAND:  But even if I don't know and the Board doesn't know what those costs were, you know what they were; correct?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  Yes, we do.
     MS. NEWLAND:  So it follows, then, that the difference between the self-supply option and the Union option - we're just talking now about the fuel delivery cost - is a known risk.  It's known to GEC.  You know what you assume for the purposes of your bid, and if you don't meet or match what you assumed, you know the magnitude of the possible risk.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Again, because we don't -- I'm not sure.  We know there is a risk.  We know it is a sizeable, potential increase in our costs if we are not able to build this pipeline and manage our gas supply costs, as we assumed from the bid.
     As I explained this morning, in terms of the basis under which we made those assumptions that went into our bidding in the CES contract, it was the underlying costs.  So to the extent that we're -- our costs are the underlying costs of actually managing the gas supply and making delivery of the gas to the plant.
     MS. NEWLAND:  And in coming up with that calculation for the purpose of your bid, you would have had to make certain assumptions about how you were going to meet your gas supply requirements and what the costs of those options were.  You would have had to have come up with some set of assumptions for determining your forecast; correct?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, we would have utilized the information that was available to us at that time, and made a determination on what would be a reasonable expectation of what our costs would be, without having final contracts in place.
     MS. NEWLAND:  May I just have a moment, sir.  Thank you, sir.
     I would like to have a discussion with you about GEC's commodity risk.  To do that I need to understand a little bit about how the Ontario electricity market works.
     Would you agree that the IESO, so the market operator, collects bids and offers until two hours before the energy is needed, and so pre-dispatched schedules can change and may not reflect real time dispatch schedules as new offers are received.
     MR. WENDELGASS:  I'm afraid I'm not an expert on how the IESO actually does hour-to-hour dispatch.
     MS. NEWLAND:  That's okay, because I'm not either.  I think the point probably can be made much more quickly.
     You would agree that you can be dispatched -- you can be brought up within three hours' notice, as I understand, and you can be taken off line quite quickly as well; correct?
     MR. WENDELGASS:  Within the limits that we provide to the IESO for our plant's capabilities, that's correct.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.
     MR. WENDELGASS:  But there are limits that plants can define for their own operations.
     MS. NEWLAND:  I believe you stated this morning in a response to a question from Ms. Lea that the operational 

-- I mean, it's quite -- you needed a great deal of flexibility at the plant in terms of your gas supply because your needs could change quite quickly.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I don't think we said that, in those terms.  I think we talked about the need for flexibility.  I think we talked about the need to be able to change our contracts as the need for flexibility -- as the needs changed over time.
     If by need to come up and down you're talking about this plant operating kind of like a bouncing ball, that is not our expectation of the way that the large combined cycle plant will operate, and one of reasons why -- certainly the operational characteristics of this plant have factored into our expectations of what our requirements will be, in terms of the gas supply.
     MS. NEWLAND:  But there will be a day-to-day fluctuation in your gas requirements at the plant.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  There certainly will be a day-to-day fluctuation.  Much of that being anticipated based on the power market, gas market and our bidding strategy, plus, as Mr. Wendelgass has stated, the conditions that are put on the bid -- our bid into the market, in terms of minimum run times, RAM schedules, those type of things

    MS. NEWLAND:  And your evidence is that you will have to manage imbalances between quantities of gas delivered to the plant and quantities consumed by the plant; correct?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is correct.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  And the amount of balancing that you will have to manage will depend on how you're dispatched; correct?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It will be -- it will have to do with, at the end of the day, how the dispatch order works relative to the way that we bid the plant.


I think that the point that we're trying to make is that there's some deal of influence that the power generator had in terms of the way that he dispatches to affect the likelihood that he will or will not be picked up in the dispatch order.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  And your evidence is that there are three ways to provide balancing:  One, to use imbalanced tolerance in gas transportation tariffs; two, to use flexibility in gas purchase arrangements; and, three, to use balancing and storage services involving injection and withdrawal.


Is that a fair summary of the three which ways available to manage imbalance?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  As a generic term ‑‑ as a generic statement, I think that it is contrary to the flavour that there is more than one way to skin the cat.


MS. NEWLAND:  Enbridge would like to have a clearer understanding of how this is all going to come together and what the related cost implications are.


To do this, I would like to propose a construct, a simple construct comprising three components:  One, that GEC requires 100 units of gas to operate rate at its full contracted capacity; two, that GEC has contracted for 40 units of firm transportation on Vector, which corresponds to the lower end of your expected range of operations, 40 percent load factor or capacity factor, so 40 units of firm service on Vector and a corresponding 40 units of gas supply that you have contracted; and that the plant learns at 6:30 p.m. that it will be dispatched at 9:30 p.m.


I'm not sure.  Is that a reasonable expectation?


MR. WENDELGASS:  Probably not.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, not a lot turns on this.  I'm really trying to understand ‑‑


MR. WENDELGASS:  Dispatch does not occur late in the day.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.


MR. WENDELGASS:  Plants are brought down --


MS. NEWLAND:  We can just work with the first two components.  A hundred units of gas, and you have already contracted 40 units on Vector and 40 units of gas supply, medium term or long term or some term.


In these circumstances, if you are required to run at full capacity, you will have to acquire 60 more units of gas; correct?  You've got the 40 units under contract that you can use firm service on Vector, provided that you can work with the nomination windows, but you have to get 60 more.  My math is right?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  If you had 40 and need 100, yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  So one way we can manage imbalance is to use the 5 percent intolerance under the Vector FT1 contract, which would give you two more units of transportation service.  So provided you can get two units of gas, you can buy same-day gas at Dawn and now you're up to 42 units at the plant; correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think the imbalance would work a little differently, but based on the 5 percent of the 40 units, that would give you two.  But, again, it's in terms of ‑‑ that would be two that would be available to the plant.  It's not two of additional transportation service.


MS. NEWLAND:  No.  You can ...

     Okay, yes, you're right about that.  Well, you could buy gas at Dawn and ship it under your existing contract for 40 units and go into imbalance for two units, and as long as you clear the balance by the next day or incur the balance penalty, you're fine?


 MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  If I have a contract for 40, I'm going to be at 5 percent tolerance based on my contract demand and I'm in -- 42 goes through the meter, I would still be within that 5 percent tolerance daily.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  So for the purpose of my simple example, we're now up to 42 units and you still need to find 58 more.


So one way, as I understand your evidence, that you could do that is to buy gas from a Vector shipper at the GEC meter?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, that would be a common way.  We would go into the market and find someone who had gas on Vector pipeline, most likely flowing to Dawn, who would be willing to sell us gas at our meter, using that same capacity.  We would have no additional transportation costs.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  So as we see it, there are four factors that would influence your choice of this particular balancing option.  One would be the cost implications.  If you have to replace the gas at Dawn on a same day basis, the implications, the cost implications could be quite significant; correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Where we slipped over from the ‑‑ we slipped into the intra-day market from the day-ahead market?  I've lost the time scenario here, in terms of ‑‑


MS. NEWLAND:  Right.  My questions are premised on the scenario where you find out, within the day, within the 24-hour period, that you're going to be dispatched.  So you can't rely on the day-ahead market.  You're doing everything within the same day that you're going to be dispatched?


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Ms. Newland, I am going to interject here for a minute so we can all follow this.  I don't want to take the thunder away from your argument eventually, but where are we going with this?  What is the point that you're trying to make, for the Board's assistance?


MS. NEWLAND:  Well, sir, I was hoping to understand the costs and the flexibility implications of the three ways that GEC says that they can manage their imbalances.  They're saying they can manage their imbalances without buying -- availing themselves of T1 service, and they give three ways that they could do this.  I'm trying to explore what the cost and the timing and reliability implications are of those three methods.


Obviously I have lost you in the trees and I apologize for that, sir.


Perhaps, if it's time to take a break, I could take a look at this and see if I could shorten it.


MR. VLAHOS:  Why don't we do that?  Let's return in 15 minutes.


MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you. 


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:45 p.m.


 --- On resuming at 3:05 p.m.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  

Ms. Newland.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, sir.
     [Technical difficulty]
     MR. VLAHOS:  Just one minute, please.
     MS. LEA:  Sorry, sir, I had to adjust that.  We had a huge feedback thing just after you left.
     MR. VLAHOS:  You're the one?
     MS. LEA:  I messed around with it, yes.  

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, it works now.  All right.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman, I think I will move on for my questions.
     What I was attempting to do was to give the GEC witnesses an opportunity to respond to the questions that were asked by Union in an interrogatory numbers 28, 29, 30 and 31.
     In those interrogatories, Union asked GEC a series of questions about the cost, availability, reliability and time and implications of managing its fluctuating gas requirements at the plant.  And GEC, in effect, declined to respond to those questions.
     And I was trying to give GEC an opportunity to respond now to those questions, but obviously I'm not doing a very good job of it so I think I will leave it and perhaps try to get the Union perspective when Union's witnesses appear tomorrow.  So I’ll move on.
     MR. VLAHOS:  I didn't mean to stop you on that, it's just I wanted some context as to what -- I have no doubt it has some value, Ms. Newland.  I just wanted to make sure we were on the same page so we're following you.
     MR. MORAN:  I hope this doesn't mean that Ms. Newland is going to be sending us a bill for legal fees in that she was trying to help us do something here.
     MR. VLAHOS:  All right, Mr. Moran.  It's late in the day.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Just to be fair to the witnesses, let me see if I can sum it up and maybe they can assist me.
     There are obviously going to be -- it seems to me, from your evidence, you have two choices.  You could accept Union T1 transportation and transportation and storage service, or you could put together a suite of services, unbundled services, from various service providers.  Either option would result in gas being delivered at your plant.
     But the timing, costs and reliability implications of both options are different.  What I was trying to explore with you, in my maybe not so simple construct, was the implications of going it on your own without relying on the T1.
     I had put to you a scenario where you had to find gas on a same-day basis and you had to find matching transportation, and I was trying to understand how you would do that using the two methods that you identified in your evidence that would be available to you to do that.
     One would be to use inherent flexibility in gas purchase arrangements, buying at your meter from gas flowing by at the meter.  And there are certain costs and availability and timing implications with that.  The other option would be just to buy physical storage and transport it to your meter from, say, Michigan or Union ex-franchise storage.  So those were the two scenarios I was trying to understand the implications of each of those.
     Would you like to comment on that? 
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I have to comment that I like your term of "suite of unbundled services" and I wrote that one down.  I hope you don't mind if I use it, because I think it does characterize well what our strategy is in managing plants such as this which makes it difficult for us to respond to a question such as I think along the lines that you were -- where you were headed, which is not an unfair line of questioning, but is based on hypotheticals and is based on a particular set of circumstances.
     There are -- our expectation is that there will be a lot of different tools we will be using at any particular point in time.  The other point I was trying to make is that we believe that by managing the fuel and power together, there are strategies that we can use in our bidding to avoid being caught in too many of these circumstances that you've talked about.
     But I think it is important to say that we recognize that there are challenges here and recognize that we have identified things that are available now.  We would hope that the more opportunities -- more options would be available in the future.  But even given the issues related to the interface between the gas and power markets, we face these challenges; this is not new.  These are challenges we face in a lot of different power plants and a lot of different parts of North America.  There are challenges and there are costs, but they're costs we have the opportunity to manage and they are costs that we work very hard to minimize.  

Our concern is that our ability to minimize those costs is affected if choice is forestalled and we're required to -- we're left with one option.  Which is say, in that option appears to be the Union T1 service, we want to make sure there is just no -- there was some discussion earlier about the, you know, what the cost difference was, how you measure that cost difference.
     We were talking about the $6 million to $8 million in our evidence and how that may not be the actual cost difference at a point in time.  But we don't want there to be any misunderstanding that we consider that the cost difference is significant and substantial and is a very important issue for the project.
     MS. NEWLAND:  And that's one of the factors, the cost differential, which I was trying to understand.  And I mean no disrespect to you, sir, because I understand what you're telling me, that decisions haven't been made.  But it is very hard to, as an intervenor in this proceeding, assess the evidence of both applicants and come to a decision without having some of that information before us.
     And in fact, I mean, you did in your bid -- you did testify that in your bid you did have to set out a certain operating scenario with certain costs implications.  So that information is there, and I understand perfectly why you can't or won't provide it.  But it makes the process quite difficult.  Perhaps we could leave it and just move on.
     I would like to be able to compare the magnitude of GEC's fuel delivery costs risk with the magnitude of its gas commodity cost risk.  And to do this, I'm going to ask you to turn to Exhibit B, which is your application and put your finger in two pages, page 22 and page 38.
     So those are the -- page 22 is table 2, which is your annual cost of transportation from the Dawn hub, the GEC option, the self-supply option.  And your evidence is that this option will cost anywhere from between $6.3 million and $7.7 million dollars less than the annual cost of the Union supply option.  That's just comparing table 2 on page 22 of with table 5 on page 38.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Do you agree with my numbers there?  And your evidence is also that if the plant operates at an annual capacity factor of between 40 and 70 percent, your total annual gas will range -- your total annual gas use will range from 28 gJs to 48 million gJs; correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  That sounds like the number that we looked at earlier.


MS. NEWLAND:  Page 16, yes.  Okay.  And would you accept, subject to check, that savings that GEC attributes to its self‑supply option on a per-gigajoule basis of gas consumed at the plant will range from 16 to 22 cents, depending on the capacity factor?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That sounds like a range.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Now, I'm going to hand out an exhibit, and I don't want anybody to get excited, because it is not particularly exciting.


MR. MORAN:  Ms. Newland already showed it to me, Mr. Chair.


MS. LEA:  Unfortunately, Ms. Newland, we could use a bit of waking up at this hour.


MS. NEWLAND:  I've already ‑‑


MS. LEA:  I need eight copies, please.  Thank you.  I will provide copies to the panel.  This would be Exhibit X2.5 [sic], please.


EXHIBIT NO. X2.6:  TABLE ENTITLED "DAILY GAS PRICES AT DAWN"

 MS. NEWLAND:  I have handed out a table, and I provided it to Mr. Moran earlier this morning, Mr. Chairman, so I imagine he provided it to the witnesses earlier this morning, as well.


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, I should identify on the record what the title of this exhibit is.  It's a schedule entitled "Daily Gas Prices at Dawn."  Thank you.


MS. NEWLAND:  That's correct.  This is a table that we put together -- Enbridge put together yesterday based on information that is available on an Internet service that shows prices at the various trading houses.


Gentlemen, you will see that, for the period the 19th of September 2005 to the 18th of October 2005, the table shows the high and the low gas prices at Dawn, the intra-day variation, the weighted average and the day‑to‑day weighted ‑‑ day‑to‑day variation on a weighted basis.


It is this last column I would like to focus on.  We see that the average day‑to‑day variation in this period of time shown on the table has gone as high as $1.426 a gigajoule; correct?  Do you see that somewhere?  On the 29th of September, the variation was $1.426 per gigajoule.


MR. ROSENKRANTZ:  If I'm understanding, you're just saying that the day‑to‑day change in the weighted average -- I'm not sure what is meant by the weighted average.  Is it the high and low, or is that a transaction weighted average?  I guess I don't get to ask questions.


Whatever the column is, it's just the difference.


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes.  It's the average based on volumes.  When I say "weighted", it is weighted as to volume.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Okay.


MS. NEWLAND:  So would it be fair to say that GEC's commodity risk, which we talked about earlier as being between 16 and 22 ‑‑ sorry, that GEC's commodity risk on a unit basis, represented by this table, could be higher than the unit savings of the self-supply option which we talked about as being between 16 and 22 cents a gigajoule?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No, I don't think that is fair at all.  I mean, if we are buying gas at ‑‑ it would have been useful if you had used the NGX index, because that's the index that is really representing our benchmark for gas purchasing, gas pricing under the CES contract.  But no matter how that changes day to day, if we can keep our pricing for that day at that index, it doesn't matter how that index changes from one day to the next.  We have no risk on that basis.  


So we would have no cost due to those day‑to‑day variations in price.


MS. NEWLAND:  That's true, if you're able to buy ‑‑ if you're able to buy on a day-ahead basis, but if you have to buy intra day, that may not be true; correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Again, now you're positing a different set of circumstances, where we're not operating ‑‑ I mean, the possibilities that ‑‑ it's very unlikely that we would be buying a substantial -- certainly not all of our gas on the intra-day market.  That would be saying that we made no plans to be dispatched; we totally misjudged the market, in terms of whether our bid would be in the market or out of the market; and we're taking this plant from a dead stop in one day to full load at the next day.


I think it is much more reasonable to look at this plant as having a certain amount of gas that it will be able to ‑‑ gas requirement we will be able to predict, a substantial portion of it, and be looking at risks at those marginal units up and down of, I guess, running, you know, a few less hours or running at a different load.  I mean, those are the -- a relatively small percentage of the gas would be subject to those types of concerns that you're looking at.


So I'm having trouble with going from where you are to the conclusion that you have proposed.


MS. NEWLAND:  Well, I guess maybe our differences are a result of me not understanding the proportion of gas you intend to buy on a longer- or medium-term basis and the portion of your gas supply that you expect to buy on a shorter-term or intra-day basis.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's fair.  It seems to me we're coming from different perspectives there, and my perspective is founded on our experience in operating a lot of different power plants in market where we do bid into -- you know, we do bid into markets and do have those types of variations and, you know, my expectation of how this will work.


MS. NEWLAND:  Just a moment, gentlemen, while I get myself organized for my last series of questions.


You had a discussion with Ms. Lea about when GEC's plant might be the marginal unit in terms of bidding into the market.  I just wanted to follow up on those questions.


If I were to suggest to you that the choice between the GEC supply option, your own pipeline, and the Union supply option will have no impact on whether GEC is the marginal unit and will have no effect on market prices, would you agree?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No, I would not agree that there would be no occasions on which this plant would be a marginal unit, setting the price in the market.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Well, whether or not the GEC plant is the marginal unit depends on the quantum of your variable costs, your running costs; correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I'm sorry?


MS. NEWLAND:  You were talking.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I apologize.


MS. NEWLAND:  Whether or not the GEC plant is the marginal unit is a function, in part, of your running costs; correct?  Your variable costs.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Again, I'm trying not to be negative, but I don't see that.  Again, this is getting away from my area of expertise, which is the gas supply and getting into areas of market-clearing prices and the mechanics of the electric market.  But I mean, in terms of my understanding of there being a stack of resources available, and 

Hour by hour citing the price based on where you clear in that stack by the margin, given the size of this plant in the Ontario market, I would expect that it would show -- just probalistically [sic], it would seem that it would hit our 1000 megawatts from time to time, that we would end up on the margin and have an effect on the market-clearing price.
     MS. NEWLAND:  But I'm tying -- I apologize if I wasn't clear.  I'm tying the effect -- I'm looking at one isolated part of your costs, and that is the variable component of your fuel delivery costs.  I'm saying the total transportation cost is almost entirely fixed, so therefore won't affect your offer price.  Is that a fair statement?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  I think the discussion we had this morning was that there would be.  Comparing the alternatives available to us, and particularly looking at the Union T1 service, we are seeing extra variable charges that may affect our variable costs of operating, may affect our bid price.
     If I can go out on a limb and try to be -- if what you're asking is that those price -- that change in cost and therefore our change in bid price would not have a great affect on our -- have a big enough affect on the actual price we bid, that it would change the number of hours that we were on the margin, again, I'm not even sure 

-- if that is your question, I'm not even sure that I can answer that, not being an expert in terms of where the bids come out.  But I will --
     MS. NEWLAND:  But I --
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I will say, you know, even these relatively small costs per unit add up to, you know, millions of dollars per year  when you are talking about the number of units of gas that we will be utilizing.
     MS. NEWLAND:  I guess my question was somewhat more general.  Whether or not you use the Union supply option or the GEC supply option, the variable component of your transportation costs will be small relative to all of your other variable costs, and so will not likely affect your market, affect your bid.  The transportation costs are, to a large extent, fixed.  That's my point, Mr. Rosenkranz.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  What you're saying is that a relatively small change in our marginal cost, our variable costs, should not have a disproportionate affect on our bid price --
     MS. NEWLAND:  Correct.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  -- am I with you that far?  But you know I can't say what is large or small in a market that operates on such thin margins and where relatively small change in prices can have effects on whether you are dispatched or not.  So I'm having a hard time… 
     MS. NEWLAND:  Let's move on.  Would you agree that there is insufficient competition in Ontario to restrict offer prices to variable costs so that generators can choose the price at which they bid, and if there is not a lot of competition, they may make offers at running costs or they have the opportunity to make offers at a price which exceeds their variable costs because of the lack of competition.  Would you agree with that?
     MR. WENDELGASS:  I'm afraid neither of us are familiar enough with the Ontario electric market bidding structures to be able to offer a response to that.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Well, I will ask the next question, but I completely understand if you can't answer it.  I was going to ask if you were aware of how many times in the last 12 months the hourly Ontario electric price, energy price, excuse me, had exceeded $100 per megawatt hour, which is higher than the running costs of any generator.
     MR. WENDELGASS:  I have no idea.
     MS. NEWLAND:  And gentlemen, I think we agreed earlier, at least I certainly hope we did, that electricity consumers are indifferent as to the choice between GEC's self-supply option and the Union supply option, because the risks that the self-supply option will fall squarely on GEC; correct?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Are you dealing with the -- I thought we had a discussion this morning.  There is a difference between the variable costs and the fixed-cost components.  I'm just getting back to our --
     MS. NEWLAND:  If there is a difference between what you assumed in your bid and what comes to pass, insofar as your fuel delivery costs are concerned, GEC will "eat" the difference.  It goes to your bottom line.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  They're risks to us, but also as we discussed this morning, we were bidding into the market based on our actual costs.  So to the extent we have actual costs that are different, we will be bidding differently.  We will be bidding higher prices into the market to cover those costs.
     So it does have affects on the real market as well as our --
     MS. NEWLAND:  To the extent -- this goes back to our conversation of a couple of minutes ago.  To the extent that the variable cost component of your fuel transportation costs affects your bid decision, your bid price.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.  If we have variable – higher -- if the gas supply option creates higher variable costs, we will have a higher bid price.
     MS. NEWLAND:  Gentlemen, in choosing to pursue the self-supply option, was GEC aware that its application would raise issues of public policy and public interest that went beyond the ones that are generally raised in a leave-to-construct application by a municipal or franchise distributor?
     Did you know we were going to have so much fun at this hearing?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I don't think we anticipated how much fun we would be having.
     No.  Seriously.  I apologize.  We were aware of the Board's earlier decisions related to these types of applications.  We were aware that there had been applications made.  We were aware that many of those applications, some of those applications were withdrawn and some were still pending.  It had not gone through the full process.
     So we were aware that we may be a test case of sorts.  We were certainly hoping that some of these issues would be addressed in other forums -- forra, before this.  Forums, I guess, is probably better.  That's, to be fair, that's what we were aware of.
     MS. NEWLAND:  So you knew there was a risk that the Board may not approve your application?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We were certainly aware that it is the Board's decision whether to grant the leave to construct that we've requested, certainly.  That's ...     MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, sir.  Thank you, Mr. Wendelgass.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chairman.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Newland.  

Before I turn to Mr. Cameron, gentlemen, you said higher costs, therefore higher bids.
 Now, that's only significant if GEC's power plant sets the price, isn't it?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's my understanding.  It will only translate into a higher market clearing price those hours where we are on the margin.


MR. VLAHOS:  When you're the price setter?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Where we are the price setter.  And as we went back and forth, we didn't have a lot of way to predict when that would happen and how much it would happen.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you for that.  Mr. Cameron, you can go for half an hour today.


MR. CAMERON:  I'm in your hands, Mr. Chair.  I certainly have more than a half hour of questions to ask.


MR. VLAHOS:  I realize that, but would you like to use the half hour today?


MR. CAMERON:  Sure.  I might as well get started.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, why don't we do that?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. CAMERON:

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Gentlemen, I would like to begin where -- roughly where Ms. Newland left off and where Ms. Lea began, and that is on the costs assumed in your CES bid.


I guess I should preface these first questions by pointing out that as the Board and parties will note from our evidence, Union considers that cost delta to be irrelevant to the questions before the Board, unless GEC were able to prove some special harm arising out of that cost delta, and there has been absolutely no evidence of that being the case.  


But because GEC has made such great hay in its evidence about the cost delta, and though it appeared this morning that that was receding in significance, there were a number of statements this afternoon that revived its significance apparently in GEC's mind, so I am going to ask just a few questions about it.  


If I understood your answers to Ms. Lea's questions this morning, it was that for your CES bid you used Calpine's historical average gas supply costs for other projects based on your broad experience, not any particular options, such as TransCanada, Union or a Vector direct tie‑in; is that right?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No.  That's not correct.  We didn't say anything about Calpine's historical costs.


MR. CAMERON:  Can you give me the correct answer, then?  I'm sorry, I don't have the transcript.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I believe that what was said this morning ‑ not having the transcript in front of me, as well ‑ is that we made the assumptions -- I believe we stated it again this afternoon.  The assumptions in the CES contract were based on the information that was available to us at that time, related to the various services that were offered by all of the relevant providers in the Ontario market, certainly informed by our actual operating experience for other similar plants.


MR. CAMERON:  Did I hear you correctly that you know what these costs were that were included in your bid?  When you built up the costs of your bid to submit a net revenue requirement in your bid, that you came to a number that you know?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Certainly.  As part of our bidding strategy, that number is built into the prices that we bid, yes.  That's certainly true.


MR. CAMERON:  And what was the number?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think, as we discussed here, that was part of our bidding strategy.  We consider that to be proprietary commercial information in terms of how we go about, either on our own or with partners, in developing similar bids for these types of projects.


I don't think it is fair to ask us to give away detailed information about our assumptions and our bidding strategy.


MR. CAMERON:  Well, I'm not asking for detailed information.  I'm asking for an aggregated number that would have been based on a number of approximations and predictions that you would have made for your gas supply costs.


I don't want ‑‑


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, I think the witness has said on a number of occasions that Greenfield does not want to provide what is commercially-sensitive information that's being used in a competitive process to procure electricity supply here in Ontario, given that that process is going to continue.


MR. CAMERON:  I hadn't finished my question, Mr. Moran.  I was trying to explain why the question I was asking might not solicit information that was all that confidential, and that is, it would have been an approximation of a wide variety of possibilities, the cost of which would have been estimated, and then aggregated into a number, and for a specific location of a project at a specific point in time.


I'm suggesting to the witness that -- I'm asking the witness to explain to me why that type of information, diffuse and generalized as it is, is considered commercially confidential.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, is Mr. Cameron asking for the net revenue requirement?


MR. VLAHOS:  I don't know either what he is asking.


MR. CAMERON:  No.  I was asking for that component of the net revenue requirement that was their transportation ‑‑ sorry, their gas acquisition costs.


MR. MORAN:  So Mr. Cameron is asking for the variable O&M number?


MR. CAMERON:  Sorry, I can't hear you, Mr. Moran.


MR. MORAN:  I was asking Mr. Chair if Mr. Cameron is asking for what the variable O&M number is.


MR. CAMERON:  So far as it pertains to gas acquisition costs.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, I think the position Greenfield is taking is that information is proprietary and commercially sensitive.


MR. CAMERON:  Yes, I heard ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, we can't hear you very well.  Maybe you could switch over a bit.


MR. MORAN:  Sorry.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  Greenfield is taking the position that that information is proprietary and commercially sensitive.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  I heard that position, Mr. Chair.  My question was to the witness, to explore that issue, why GEC considers information that is such an aggregation of generalizations, predictions and speculations, why that is commercially confidential.


It might be that if he answers the question, I will move on.


MR. MORAN:  That's fine, Mr. Chair.  He can certainly put that question to the witness.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think there are two aspects to it.  I mean, first of all is the question of the pricing and our pricing strategies in the electricity bid.  As I said, we feel that is very sensitive.  We feel that even aggregate information on this portion of our bid, based on other information that people may be able to glean from various sources, they can start backing out and finding other information.  It is a question of, you know, where do you stop with this?


I think the other aspect to it is, you know, we're ‑‑ the costs that we're talking about here, we're talking about a plant that is commencing construction.  As we discussed many times, we, no matter what option we take in terms of the gas supply connection, are going to be in the market for various types of storage and balancing services and being -- negotiating with parties to get the best ‑‑ the best deal, and those parties would include Union Gas, both on the regulated and unregulated side.  Again, from that standpoint, as well, we feel this is commercially-sensitive information.  


Finally, our position in this case is that this is a facilities application.  The cost comparisons that we discussed this morning that were presented in the evidence were intended to provide a flavour for the types of cost differences that we're seeing, and, again, talking about both the levels of the costs, which -- I want to make sure there's no misunderstanding.  We see a significant difference, but also the way those costs are made up.  We're there to provide part of the perspective on why we feel this particular project is important for our gas supply.


So for all of those reasons, I don't feel that this is a question that I'm in a position to answer.


MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Chairman, I will move on to the next area, then.  I won't force the issue.  I stand by what I said about why the information might not be considered commercially confidential, but let's see what we can find out about that number.
     The first thing we know is that it was more than $2.2 million; right?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Can you point me to something in the record to tell us what that is, where that number comes from?  I'm sorry.  It's right in front of me.
     MR. CAMERON:  Well, the annualized cost of your 

self-service proposal is $2.2 million; right?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  You're talking, you're referring to table number 2, which I didn't have in front of me, so I didn't immediately make the connection with the $2.2 million.
     MR. CAMERON:  It's a number we've all been tossing around.  I thought it wouldn't require reference, but it is in your evidence on page 22.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I can't say it is more or less than $2.2 million.  Again, that $2.2 million is based on a particular set of circumstances, including Vector T1 service.  Excuse me, Vector FT1 service for the full capacity of the plant.  We may be able to do better and we may have considered that when we did our bidding.
     MR. CAMERON:  Well, if we can't even start at the $2.2 million figure, sir, what did it mean when you put that figure in your evidence and then revised your evidence specifically to say that that number was built into your CES bid, that it was reflected in your CES bid?
     MR. MORAN:  Sorry, Mr. Chair, I'm wondering if Mr. Cameron can help me with the reference for the statement that he just made, that $2.2 million was built into the bid.
     MR. CAMERON:  It won't take me long.  I hadn't thought that was ...
     MR. MORAN:  To assist my friend, there are two places in the evidence to what was built into the bid.  The first one appears at page 5 of Exhibit B, and the second one appears at page 40 of Exhibit B, neither of which include the statement that my friend suggested to the witness.
     MR. CAMERON:  The reference to "built in" I'm finding another one in an IR response, was in the revised GEC evidence on page 40 of 42, so this would be the updated Exhibit B, page 40 of 42.
     MR. MORAN:  That's the reference I referred you to just now, Mr. Chair.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Which part precisely?
     MR. CAMERON:  In the middle of the paragraph it says:  

“GEC has chosen to connect to the gas transmission system and electricity transmission system for operational and economic reasons and accordingly seeks leave-to-construct facilities required to do so.  The choice was built into Greenfield's successful proposal in the government's RFP process." Et cetera, et cetera, et cetera.

Which means that the electricity consumers of Ontario received the benefit of the lower gas transportation costs resulting from "the pipeline," which is the defined term costed with annual $2.2 million cost of service.
     MR. MORAN:  I think Mr. Cameron's interpretation of this evidence - and that's what I needed to clarify - that's certainly not the position that Greenfield takes with respect to the meaning of that.  But we understand.
     MR. CAMERON:  I cannot hear you, if at all, Mr. Moran.
     MR. MORAN:  Sorry, Mr. Cameron.  

Mr. Chair, I certainly understand the interpretation that Mr. Cameron wants to place on those words, and as I indicate, the characterization of the evidence that he wants to put to the witness is not accurate.
     MR. CAMERON:  Is not what?
     MR. MORAN:  Is not accurate.
     MR. CAMERON:  Well, was not the whole purpose of the revised evidence to make the point that you had relied on the economics of building your own pipeline when you submitted your CES bid?  Mr. Rosenkranz?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think that the difference we have here is:  Was that cost $2.2 million?
     MR. CAMERON:  Well, sir, you filed --
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  If you would like to rephrase the question -- I thought the question was:  Was our bid based on the cost of $2.2 million that you referenced.
     MR. CAMERON:  Well, I think that is my point.  But I'm coming back to this issue.
     You filed initial pre-filed evidence that stipulated an annual cost of service for your own pipeline of $2.2 million.  You then filed revised evidence that said:  And here is why that number is important.  It's because we relied on that when we made our CES bid.  And here is another reason why it is important, because Ontario electrical consumers will benefit from that number.
     Now, if we can't even start from that number as the starting point for the number you built into your CES bid, what are we to make of your revised pre-filed evidence?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  First of all, I think that our pre-filed -- our evidence states what is accurate, which is that the costs of operating this power plant, based on gas supply arrangements, using our own pipeline to connect with Vector as the foundation, were reflected in our CES contract.  And as has been discussed here, the CES contract does lock-in certain costs that we cannot otherwise recover.
     MR. CAMERON:  So what does "built into" or “reflected in” mean, when you say that your self-service cost, identified in your application was built into your bid?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think to attempt to be -- to clarify this, I think the -- where we're diverging is in your use of the $2.2 million, which includes more than the cost of our pipeline that we have applied to construct in this proceeding.
     If you would ask me, did it include the cost of constructing and operating the pipeline and other 

gas-supplied costs, I would answer "yes".
     MR. CAMERON:  But not necessarily the costs that you put in your application to the Board?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The costs that we put in the application were an example of a cost comparison, based on a particular set of assumptions, to illustrate the types of costs that we're talking about and the types of magnitudes of costs that we are talking about; trying to put things that are different on somewhat of an apples-to-apples comparison.
     In order to do that, we selected a scenario of a basic transportation-only cost from Dawn to the plant utilizing the Union T1 service or utilizing our own pipeline and either TransCanada at their rates or the Vector pipeline at its filed tariff rates, not intending to say that these were our expected actual costs certainly under all scenarios, or to say that these were the only costs that would be considered.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  I'm trying to figure out just what we're to do now with your evidence on page 21 and 22, your pre-filed evidence.


I had understood it to be presented as the, I will call it the GEC self-service, because we're trying to avoid the "bypass" word so we don't have debate on that proposal, and it was presented as totalling $2.2 million on an annualized basis, and it was described as a number that could even be lower if you could obtain transportation capacity on Vector from suppliers holding that capacity already.


Is it just one of an infinitely variable number of ways you could supply gas yourself?


 MR. ROSENKRANZ:  First of all, you referenced pages 21 and 22, and certainly they're different things here between ‑‑ page 21 is a statement of the costs of the specific facilities.


I think where we're coming ‑‑ again, where we're having this problem is that once we go past that and look at the other costs, I would say that -- I don't know if I would say there is an infinite number of options out there, but I would say that we would expect to utilize a large number of different options that will change over time.


So if you interpreted this, our evidence, that all of the gas would be moving on Vector pipeline FT1 from Vector to the interconnect at that rate, and that that was our expected cost, then you misinterpreted our evidence.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Let's see what I should have interpreted from page 38 of your evidence.


Now, there is a table there that sets out the Union alternative using T1 firm and presenting numbers of 8.5 million and 9.9 million, and it says, "As can be seen in table 5", and that's the table immediately above:

"... transportation service from Union Gas is considerably more expensive than using the pipeline, as shown in table 2 at 23 above."


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's ‑‑


MR. CAMERON:  Was the purpose there not to contrast 9.9 million to 2.2 million?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  For, in what you just read, transportation service from Union Gas.  And I thought we made clear, in terms of the title, it's annual costs of transportation from Dawn hub.


So, yes, I mean, we had presented those particular options.  I mean, we didn't leave out storage service in one option and put in storage service in the other.  We recognized that because of the differences in services, it's not strictly apples to apples, but we did try to make a fair comparison to give a flavour to the issues related to the costs, primarily to demonstrate a need for this pipeline, not because we were presenting detailed costs and certainly not, as you referred to it as cost of service, because we're not a regulated utility and we're not developing rates.


MR. CAMERON:  Well, let's not get hung up on the terminology, sir.


You refer to your own costs, in table 2 on 22, "annual cost of transportation from the Dawn hub", and then you invite the Board to contrast your figure of $2.2 million to a $9.9 million figure, and you say, See, look how much more expensive Union is.  Wasn't that the whole point of this evidence?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I would just repeat what I ‑‑ my answer, in terms of the reason for that comparison and the motivation behind it, and I believe that there's been ample opportunity for parties in this proceeding, through interrogatories, to ask questions about other costs that may not be there, and we have identified and discussed the fact that there are other costs.


So if your concern is that we have unfairly characterized one option versus the other, that wasn't the intent.  We tried, to the extent possible, to be, as I keep saying, apples to apples, recognizing the difficulties inherent in making those types of comparisons.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Well, let's take your $2.2 million figure.  You agree that what that doesn't include is your Calpine Energy Services fee; correct?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The Calpine Energy Services fee, as we discussed, is an agency fuel management fee that's combined both with -- actually, fuel management is more comprehensive -- energy management fee service that has both electric and gas.


It is something that has been negotiated with the partnership to provide that service to the partnership, and it is not considered as one of the gas supply costs that is in the number that you referenced.


MR. CAMERON:  Not considered to be.  What you're saying is it isn't?  The $2.2 million doesn't include a cost you know you are going to incur in the course of paying Calpine Energy Services for or fuel management services?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  For the agency services that are part of managing the electricity and supply and fuel supply of the plant, those are costs that will be incurred by the project, irrespective of the gas supply option that is selected.  Therefore, putting them in and showing a difference based on that would not be of any ‑‑ would not demonstrate anything.


MR. CAMERON:  Let me ask you that question, sir.


Why is it that you have committed yourself by contract to paying that fee to Calpine Energy Services?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It is a commitment that the partnership has made.  As I said, also, it's a more comprehensive energy services service.  It's not just a gas supply service.


MR. CAMERON:  And this explains your answer to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 8, where you said, We pay this fee whether we contract with Union, or whether we do our self‑service option?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.


MR. CAMERON:  In other words, you've already committed yourself to paying for fuel management services that Union would provide under T1 service?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Absolutely not.  The types of services that we're talking about have to do with the procurement and nomination of upstream gas supplies.  We would have certainly significant ‑‑ there would be significant things for those people to do even with Union T1 service, since Union would now ‑‑ this is a transportation service, semi-bundled service.  


We would still need to acquire gas and nominate gas and manage both the upstream suppliers and things like storage balances on T1 storage service.


MR. CAMERON:  I don't think your "absolutely not" was followed by words that contradicted what I said.  You have committed to pay that fee to Calpine Energy Services, whether or not you contract with Union; is that right?


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I answered that question, yes.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And I thought your point in saying that it wasn't sensible to itemize them here was that you had to incur those costs, those fuel management costs that Union had identified, whether you contracted with Union or whether you didn't, because you had already committed yourself to CES.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I thought the question you were asking is if we were committed to paying to CES costs for services that we would otherwise be able to get from Union under its T1 service.  If I'm mistaken -- that's the way I heard the question.
     MR. CAMERON:  Maybe you should turn up Board Staff interrogatory 8 and I will see if we can understand what you're saying there.  This would be in Exhibit F, and it begins on page 4 of 18 and goes over to page 5 of 18.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I have it in front of me, sir.
     MR. CAMERON:  And you were asked to discuss the fuel management services that would be provided by Calpine Energy Services that are comparable to those provided by Union Gas Limited under its T1 rate structure.
     You answered that question by saying the number was confidential and you didn't want to disclose it.
     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, he answered the question by saying they're not comparable.  I mean, Mr. Cameron likes to skip over the part that actually answers the question he is posing.
     MR. CAMERON:  Hang on.  Let's go back.  I don't want to skip over anything.  You were asked to discuss the fuel management services that would be provided by Calpine Energy Services that are comparable to those provided by Union Gas Limited under the T1 rate structure.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cameron, can you slow down a little bit.  I have to make sure the transcriber gets every word.
     MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Then you were asked to provide a detailed comparison of the volumes and fees associated with these services.  To be fair to Mr. Moran, you described the services, but that's not what I'm talking about here.  It's the fee.  You said the fee was confidential.
     Then you said:

"More importantly, however, because the same fee will be paid to Calpine Energy Services, whether GEC constructs the pipeline or natural gas is supplied through Union Gas, a comparison of the Calpine Energy Services agency fee and Union T1 service charges would not be meaningful."     

Now, were you not saying there that you were -- that in addition to being confidential, the number was not relevant.  You used the word "meaningful" because it's a wash.  Or, to put it another way, you have to pay it whether you get fuel management services through T1 service or not?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I was fine with you until you got to the end of the question where you talked about "we would be getting fuel-management services from Union," and that's -- we would be getting storage and transportation services from Union.  We would not be getting fuel-management services from Union.  We certainly would not be getting electric dispatch and management services from Union.
     So the answer to the interrogatory begins by saying: 

"The natural gas supply management service that would be provided by Calpine Energy Services is not comparable to the physical gas delivery and storage services provided by Union under its T1 service.”

So I believe we could have ended there and say that the answer, you know, we would like to answer your question but your question asks us to discuss services that are comparable.  And the first answer is they're not comparable.
     We did try to be more -- we did try to then go on and explain why they're not comparable and then explain why we, you know, again, even though we could have stopped the answer sooner, that we were trying to explain something about that particular service arrangement.
     MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Well, let's go back to where we were.  The Calpine Energy Services fees would be an add-on to the $2.2 million; correct?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The Calpine Services energy management fees are included.  They're a different type of fee.  I mean, they're not part of our gas supply costs.  They're part of the overall operations that are necessary to operate this power plant.  So they are elsewhere in our budget, I guess, is the way we would look at.
     MR. CAMERON:  Elsewhere in the budget, but they are dollars you will spend to obtain services related to your gas acquisition.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  They are -- that's fair.  They're related to gas acquisition, yes, I will --
     MR. CAMERON:  So the $2.2 million figure is short by whatever that part of the CES fee is attributable to your gas acquisition services from CES.  And excuse me, please, Mr. Wendelgass, please refrain from shaking your head when Mr. Rosenkranz is waiting to answer the question.
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I disagree that, again, it's short by anything.  The costs that are shown are the costs that we stated are there.  So to the extent we are -- to say they're short is, I mean, we didn't include a lot of costs that have something to do with consuming natural gas in the power plant.
     MR. CAMERON:  I'll say.  I mean we've been trying to get at that point; many of us have been trying to get at that point since the evidence was filed.  It doesn't include your storage costs either, does it, the $2.2 million figure?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The $2.2 million is transportation costs, using 100 percent load factor on Vector from Dawn, to the plant, just as it says.
     MR. CAMERON:  All right.  It doesn't include the balancing services costs or balancing penalties, imbalance penalties; correct?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  To the extent that there would be any.
     MR. CAMERON:  You've said you need balancing services; correct?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We said that we will be needing services to balance the load of the plant, yes, again to the extent --
     MR. CAMERON:  They're missing --
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cameron, let the witness finish the answer, please.
     MR. CAMERON:  Yes, sir.
     MR. VLAHOS:  At this point, I would like to break the hearing.  We are 12 minutes past the allotted time so let's adjourn until tomorrow morning.
     Mr. Moran, again, to go over the plan tomorrow, we will continue with this panel.  We will have Walpole Island.  Then Mr. Cameron, will your witnesses be available tomorrow?
     MR. CAMERON:  Yes, they will, sir.
     MR. VLAHOS:  That will be great.  We're adjourned until 9 o'clock tomorrow morning.
     --- Whereupon hearing adjourns at 4:12 p.m.    
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